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For more information about Nemak,
visit www.nemak.com

GRI Standards: 102-1, 102-7

Nemak is a leading provider of innovative lightweighting solutions for the global automotive
industry, specializing in the development and manufacturing of aluminum components for
powertrain and body structure applications. As of 2018, the company employed more than
22,000 people at 38 facilities worldwide and generated revenues of US $4.7 billion.
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Product portfolio
POWERTRAIN
• Cylinder Heads
• Engine Blocks
• Transmission Cases

VEHICLE STRUCTURES
•
•
•
•

Longitudinal Members
Shock Towers
Subframes
Other

E-MOBILITY COMPONENTS
• E-Motor Housings
• Battery Housings
• Other

NEMAK
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Volume

GRI Standard: 201-1

Financial highlights

millions of equivalent units
2015

50.7

2016

50.1

0.2

2017

4,481

5.0

2018

49.9
50.0

699

685

2.0

(300)

(308)

(2.6)

7

(7)

N/A

406

370

9.7

(98)

(82)

19.5

6

22

(72.7)

(24)

(43)

(44.2)

(116)

(103)

12.6

7

3

N/A

Income tax

(117)

(78)

50.0

Net income

180

192

(6.3)

EBITDA1

734

715

2.7

EXPRESSED IN MILLIONS OF U.S. DOLLARS
Volume (million equivalent units)
Total revenues
Gross profit
Sales & administrative expenses
Other income (expenses) net
Operating income
Interest expenses
Interest income
Foreign exchange (loss)
Financing expenses net
Participation in associates results

2018

2017

CHANGE %

50

49.9

4,704

Total revenues
millions of U.S. dollars
2015
2016
2017
2018

4,482
4,257
4,481
4,704

EBITDA

millions of U.S. dollars
CAPEX
Net debt
(1)

403

433

N/A

1,251

1,271

(1.6)

EBITDA = Operating income + depreciation and amortization + non-recurring items

2015
2016
2017
2018

NEMAK

759
798
715
734
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GRI Standards: 102-14, 102-15

Letter to Shareholders
DEAR SHAREHOLDERS:
In 2018, Nemak posted improved
results while leveraging its
technological capabilities to support
its customers’ increasing focus on
developing sustainable mobility
solutions. It made further progress
with the ramp-up of recently awarded
business, enhancing its product mix
and earning industry recognition for
innovation and quality performance.
And, it won new contracts that are
expected to serve as a catalyst for
strong growth in its structural and
electric vehicle components (SC/EV)
segment in the coming years.
Furthermore, the company continued
to improve on its customer value
proposition, providing solutions to
support prototype development
and design engineering processes
for propulsion and body structure
applications.
Overall, the global automotive
industry had a stable performance
compared to 2017, although
conditions varied among the regions
the company serves.

NEMAK

In North America, there was a small
increase in U.S. light vehicle sales,
surpassing analysts´ expectations
on the back of a strong economy.
Vehicle sales in the European market
finished at the same level as the
previous year, as a positive first half
of the year offset the impact of lower
sales in the second half associated
with delays in the implementation
of stricter emissions testing
procedures.
Nemak’s other main markets,
China and South America, showed
contrasting trends: in China auto
sales were affected by a slowing
economy in that country, but the
Brazilian automotive industry
improved thanks to better
macroeconomic conditions.
Nemak sold 50 million equivalent
units in total in 2018, similar to
the total in 2017. Revenues were
US$4,704 million, up 5% vis-a-vis
2017 mainly on the back of higher
aluminum prices. EBITDA amounted
to US$734 million in 2018, 3%
more than the year before. In turn,
Net Income was US$180 million,
6.3% lower than 2017 due to higher
financial expenses and taxes.
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Nemak to Investment
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Nemak´s capital expenditures
amounted to US$403 million in
2018. The company focused its
investments on supporting new
launches across its product lines.
Nemak paid dividends to its
shareholders worth US$170
million in 2018, the same amount
as in 2017. The company’s debt
level remained stable as cash
flow generation was sufficient to
cover all outlays during the year.
Meanwhile, it improved its Net
Debt-to-EBITDA ratio from 1.8 to
1.7 times, marking 21 consecutive
quarters with a Net Debt-to-EBITDA
ratio of less than 2.0 times.
Further reinforcing its financial
condition, Nemak successfully
placed a US$500 million bond
issue in the international debt
markets, with a coupon of 4.75%
and a maturity period of 7 years.

NEMAK

MANAGEMENT
TEAM

The proceeds were used to
redeem existing notes due in
2023, extending the average life
of its debt and reducing its cost.
In recognition of the company’s
financial discipline and credit
profile, Fitch Ratings upgraded
Nemak to Investment Grade,
raising its Issuer Default Rating
on a global scale from ‘BB+’ to
‘BBB-’. The other main rating
agencies, Moody´s and S&P,
kept Nemak one notch below
investment grade, with a stable
outlook.
Regarding strategy execution,
the company successfully
captured market share
linked to lightweighting and
electrification. It launched highvolume production programs
in SC/EV in Europe and North
America, bringing the segment’s

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL
SECTION

total revenue contribution to
approximately US$150 million for
the year. Additionally, it won new
contracts in SC/EV worth a total
of approximately US$280 million
in annual revenues.
To date, signed contracts in
SC/EV amount to approximately
US$600 million in annual
revenues, most of which
are expected to reach peak
production volumes by 2021.
Moreover, to better capitalize on
expected growth of this business
segment, Nemak strengthened
its global engineering,
product development and
sales teams, helping it to bid
on new opportunities in this
segment alone worth a total of
approximately US$1.8 billion in
annual revenues.
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New contract wins for 2018 totaled US$770 M
in annual revenues, approximately 50% of
which represented incremental business.
Taking into account all product
lines, new contract wins for 2018
totaled US$770 million in annual
revenues, of which approximately
half represented incremental
business.
Nemak worked in tandem with
its stakeholders to strengthen
its sustainability-related
performance. The company
focused on initiatives to support
human capital development,
thereby improving the employee
experience; fostering increased
organizational agility and
efficiency; and increasing the use
of recycled raw materials and
sands, among others.
Towards society, the company
deepened its engagement in
community-based health and
education initiatives. Nemak

NEMAK

maintained the health and
wellness of its employees as
its top priority by supporting
activities and training programs
in all its sites worldwide. Also, it
continued efforts to help facilitate
access to quality education
among youth from low-income
backgrounds in communities
close to its sites.
In summary, Nemak broke new
ground in its value creation
journey. It applied innovation
in its people, processes, and
technology, enabling operational
improvements and helping
its customers to prepare for
the mobility of tomorrow.
Given evolving industry and
macroeconomic conditions, there
is a potential risk of continued
volatility in the company´s
main markets in 2019; at the

same time, there is confidence
Nemak has the full range of
capabilities required to deliver
on its long-term growth potential
while continuing to enhance its
competitive advantage.
On behalf of the Board of
Directors, we thank you for your
support during the year we are
reporting. We would also like
to express special appreciation
for our employees, whose
dedication and commitment
make it all possible.

Armando Garza Sada
Chairman of the Board of Directors

San Pedro Garza García, N.L.
January 31, 2019

Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer
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Lightweighting
Developments
GRI Standard: 201-2

Nemak continues to keep pace with rapid change in
the automotive industry, harnessing its competitive
advantages -including its global footprint, customer
relationships, and lightweighting competencies- to
support its customers’ efforts to meet evolving trends
in light-vehicle demand.

NEMAK
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The company targets opportunities across propulsion and vehicle structure applications,
with a focus on highly-engineered solutions spanning alloy development, casting design,
component integration, joining and assembly, and thermal management, among other areas.
As the world’s largest
independent producer of cylinder
heads and engine blocks, Nemak
is a longstanding strategic
partner to the industry’s efforts
to drive performance and
efficiency in combustion engine
applications. The company’s
track record of manufacturing
excellence and technology
leadership has been key to its
ability to supply more than 650
vehicle platforms, close to half of
the world’s total.

NEMAK

In recent years, Nemak has
greatly expanded its portfolio
of lightweighting solutions,
leveraging its technological
capabilities to initiate production
of structural and electric vehicle
components (SC/EV). Given
the industry’s shift towards
vehicle lightweighting and
electrification, the company
sees this segment as a potential
catalyst of growth and increased
content per vehicle in the
medium-to-long term.

MANAGEMENT
TEAM

Background

Nemak’s origins trace back more
than forty years to early industry
efforts to reduce the weight
and improve the efficiency of
vehicles. With a clear strategy
and execution roadmap, the
company has built a global
leadership position in the
development and manufacturing
of aluminum engine components.
Moreover, it has been able to
develop solutions which not
only lighten internal combustion
engine vehicles, but also improve
their efficiency and performance,
helping its customers to
meet increasingly demanding
thermomechanical requirements.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL
SECTION

Today, the automotive industry
is in the midst of a profound
transformation. Electric
vehicles—both the hybrid and
battery-electric variety—are
already a reality and appear
poised to gain further market
share, while vehicle autonomy
and connectivity are also
expected to emerge as major
industry drivers in the coming
years.
Nemak is focused on tapping
into emerging growth avenues
in its industry while delivering
a value proposition tailored to
meet its customers’ needs.
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Structural and
electric vehicle
components (SC/EV)

Since 2013, Nemak has capitalized on its
expertise in aluminum casting to develop
new lightweighting solutions beyond
traditional propulsion applications.
This has included the production of
components comprising the “structure” or
body of the vehicle, consisting primarily of
chassis and body-in-white applications.
Aluminum is a preferred material for
these parts, enabling weight savings of
more than 40% compared to steel, the
traditional material, without sacrificing
mechanical or physical properties.

Based on signed contracts as of year-end 2018, the company expects to
secure approximately 20 percent of the total market for battery housings
for plug-in hybrid electric vehicles in North America and Europe by 2020.

To date, Nemak has signed contracts
to produce SC/EV worth a total of
approximately US$600 M.

NEMAK

During this same period, Nemak has
also expanded its focus on electric
vehicle components, primarily enclosures
(“housings”) designed to protect batteries
as well as electric motors. As a matter of
fact, battery housings have been among
the company’s main successes in this
segment so far. Based on signed contracts
as of year-end 2018, the company expects
to secure approximately 20 percent of the
total market for battery housings for plugin hybrid electric vehicles in North America
and Europe by 2020.
Nemak has invested considerable
resources in the development of this new
business, installing production capacity at
a total of five sites across Europe, North
America, and Asia. Moreover, it has built
up a new, dedicated organization that
reports directly to the CEO, providing
the full range of expertise and know-how
required for this business across design,
manufacturing, and sales and marketing
functions.

CORPORATE
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These efforts have yielded good results
to date, facilitating a smooth ramp-up
of the SC/EV business. In 2018, Nemak
made strides in this regard, reaching new
production milestones and bringing the
company closer to its goal of capturing
US$1 billion in this segment by 2022.
To date, the company has signed
contracts to produce SC/EV worth a
total of approximately US$600 million
in annual revenues. At the same time,
revenue generation in the segment
has been steadily increasing, reaching
US$150 million in 2018, just two years
after the company initiated production of
these components. In 2019, the company
estimates that SC/EV will account for
close to US$200 million in revenues.
More revealing still of the short-to-mediumterm growth potential for this business,
as of year-end 2018, the company was
quoting new opportunities to produce
these components worth close to US$1.8
billion, more than three times the amount it
was pursuing at the end of 2017.
Moreover, the size, geometrical
complexity, and thermomechanical
requirements of SC/EV applications also
help to make it a promising avenue for
delivering higher value-added content to
customers. Nemak’s capabilities in design
engineering and joining and assembly—
including advanced robotic welding,
gluing, and riveting technologies—
position it to capture an important share
of this growing market.
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Contributing to a more
sustainable mobility
GRI Standard: 301-2, 302-1, 302-2, 303-3, 305-1, 305-2 , 305-5

Nemak’s corporate purpose is grounded in its commitment
to support the automotive industry’s shift towards a more
sustainable human mobility. The company’s innovative
processes focus on improving fuel efficiency, helping to create
value for its communities and employees and, ultimately,
enhancing overall environmental and social well-being.

NEMAK
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GRI Standard: 102-40, 102-43, 102-46, 102-47, 103-2

SUSTAINABILITY FOCUS
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The company’s efforts in this
regard are aligned with those of
leading international Corporate
Social Responsibility assessment
organizations, spanning the following
four main pillars:
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NEMAK

Economic
Materiality
In 2015, a materiality analysis was
conducted to identify the topics that
are of the greatest interest to Nemak’s
stakehold¬ers regarding its business and
the sustainability of its operations. The
assessment identified 12 material issues
that remain valid today.
Communication with stakeholders
To understand and meet the expectations
of the company’s stakeholders, it is of
the utmost importance to maintain an
open and effective dialogue with them.
To this end, Nemak makes use of several
communication channels, including
anonymous grievance mechanisms such
as a Transparency and Integrity Helpline;
direct communication by telephone; faceto-face meetings; e-mails; participation in
chambers and associations; satisfaction
surveys; open-door policy; and an active
social media engagement.
Through such channels, the company
seeks to foster mutually beneficial
relationships with its stakeholders, gaining
a better understanding of their needs as
well as expectations for the future.

MATERIAL ASPECTS
1

ENERGY EFFICIENCY

2

CLIMATE CHANGE AND EMISSIONS STRATEGY

3

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

4

WATER MANAGEMENT

5

RESPONSIBILITY ON MATERIALS

6

RESPONSIBLE CRITERIA FOR PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

7

LABOR PRACTICES

8

HEALTH AND SAFETY

9

RELATIONS WITH NGO’S AND REGULATORY AGENCIES

100%

7
2

6

3

IMPACT FOR NEMAK

Nemak supports the Sustainable
Development Goals set by the United
Nations, with a primary focus on:
• Quality Education
• Innovative Infrastructure
• Waste Reduction
• Climate Action

1

11
10
9

8

4

12

5

10 RELATIONS WITH CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS
11 RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
12 WEALTH DISTRIBUTION
0%

10%

20%

30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%
RELEVANCE
FOR STAKEHOLDERS

LOW RELEVANCE

MEDIUM RELEVANCE

100%

HIGH RELEVANCE
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Nemak is on its way to fulfill supply chain evaluations
and audits on topics related to Environment, Social and
Governance (ESG) topics.

In 2018, 58% of
the Company’s procurement
prioritized local suppliers
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Supply Chain Management
Nemak is on its way to fulfill
supply chain evaluations
and audits on topics related
to Environment, Social and
Governance (ESG), performance
and risk management, and
product quality. As of the date
of this report, no suppliers
were found at risk of negative
impacts.
The majority of Nemak’s
supply chain has signed
the Sustainability Code for
Suppliers, which is based on
principles and standards set
forth in the following international
treaties and agreements:
• The Organization for
Economic Cooperation
and Development’s (OECD)
Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises,

MANAGEMENT
TEAM

• the Global Compact and the
Universal Declaration of Human
Rights of the United Nations
(UN); and
• the Conventions of the International
Labor Organization (ILO).
The company developed a new
system (SAP module) featuring
scorecards and Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) for monitoring
suppliers, which it started to
implement in 2018.
Other highlights of the year
included the company’s selection
of local suppliers in 58% of its
procurement decisions and its
continued participation in the
Suppliers Development Program of
ALFA, its parent company, aimed
at identifying and building upon its
suppliers’ social responsibility and
human rights practices.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL
SECTION

Relations with its
shareholders
One of the focal points for
the company’s sustainability
practices is its relations with
shareholders. In 2018, Nemak
participated in the ALFA Investor
Day, an event in which investors
and other stakeholders gathered
for a presentation on its strategy
and financial performance. This
is the second consecutive year in
which Nemak held a public event
dedicated to these topics.
Additionally, Nemak responded
to sustainability questionnaires
from the Carbon Disclosure
Project (CDP), RobecoSAM,
and the Sustainability Index of
the Mexican Stock Exchange,
providing more detailed
information on its ESG strategy
and actions than in 2017.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Environmental

Nemak commits to meeting the highest
environmental standards and complying with
applicable legal and other binding requirements.
The company utilizes innovative manufacturing
processes that are designed to meet stringent
emissions requirements at competitive cost.
During 2018, the company’s Health, Safety and
Environment (HSE) department established
global KPIs that will allow the sites to meet
common goals regarding environmental
performance.
Additionally, it made the following investments
aimed at enhancing its environmental practices
and performance:

NEMAK

US$ million

2018

2017

Emission
reductions

3.5

3.1

Environmental
management costs

1.3

1.2

Waste disposal and
reduction

4.0

2.5

Prevention costs

1.2

0.6

Remediation costs

0.1

0.9

Other
environmental
actions

0.4

1.2

TOTAL

10.5

8.5

2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Energy efficiency
Nemak continuously seeks opportunities to
improve energy efficiency. In 2018, savings in
energy consumption in the ordinary course of
operations totaled 391,000 GigaJoules (GI).
This was the result of several initiatives at its
production sites, which included identifying
and eliminating air leaks; installation of
new equipment, such as heating pumps
as well as a Supervisory Control and Data
Acquisition (SCADA) heating system; insulation
improvements in melting furnaces; and the
replacement of the entire roof of one facility.
GJ x 106

2018

2017

Natural gas

13.29

12.98

LGP

0.17

0.07

Fuel Oil #6 H.V.

0.39

0.04

TOTAL

14.36

13.09

These and other actions specifically aimed
at reducing emissions, such as continuous
maintenance and improvement of equipment
and planning of the operations, allowed Nemak
to avoid emitting 72,225 tons of CO2 equivalent,
even in a year when its production volumes
increased slightly vs. the previous year. This
is equivalent to the avoidance of emissions of
approximately 15,000 cars in a year.
Ton CO2 eq x 106

2018

2017

Direct emissions

0.85

0.72

Indirect emissions

0.67

0.60

Intensity of emissions
(by ton produced)

1.21

1.89

TOTAL

1.56

1.32

NEMAK

Regarding water management and care, while
Nemak’s operations are not water-intensive,
the company understands its responsibility
for the protection and conservation of this
critical resource. In 2018, the company
started running its 15th water treatment plant,
which contributed to treating more than 5.9
million m3 and reusing more than 203,000 m3
in its processes.

In 2018, Nemak avoided emmissions
by 72,225 tons of CO2eq., even when
Nemak’s operations increased vs.
the previous year. This is equivalent
to the avoidance of emissions of
approximately 15,000 cars in a year.

Another main environmental initiative of
Nemak is to make responsible use of raw
materials in its manufacturing processes.
The company works towards using recycled
materials as much as possible. The use
of recycled aluminum in its operations is
approximately 80% on average.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Nemak carried out its
2nd. Global Employee
Survey measuring key
engagement drivers such
as Benefits and Rewards,
Leadership, Safety,
Career Development,
among others.

Nemak provided an
average of 19 hours of
training per employee
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Social
Nemak’s People
Nemak’s efforts to contribute
to the professional growth of its
people, to improve the overall
employee experience, and to
foster collaboration across
regions and functions go handin-hand with the execution of its
business strategy.
Talent Development
The company has been working
on optimizing organizational
structures and collaborative
relationships in recent years, with
the aim of maximizing the value
delivery of all functions on a
global scale.
In 2018, Nemak provided
an average of 19 hours of
training per employee for the
improvement of their skills

and education, continued
to strengthen diversity and
flexibility in the workplace, and
convened staff members to
participate in applied learning
challenges, such as The Quest
and Engenius programs.
These were opportunities for
participants to collaborate as
part of interdisciplinary teams
to address a variety of technical
and administrative challenges
related to Nemak’s production
processes.
Also, the company launched
the Leadership Development
Journey program for Mid-Level
and Front Line Managers.
This program features several
workshops and applied learning
projects aimed at helping
participants to strengthen their

competencies and capabilities
as change agents within the
company.
During the year, 161 scholarships
were granted to employees who
wanted to continue their studies
in higher education institutions.
Nemak invested more than
US$4.6 million to hold training
courses and events that
promoted sports and leisure,
personal development and workfamily balance, reaching more
than 115,000 people.
On top of this, Nemak seeks to
provide benchmark professional
growth opportunities to its
employees. To this end, in 2018
it implemented early talent
programs intended to help the

company attract and develop
the right talent needed to
continue to be a leader in its
industry.
Employee engagement
At the end of 2018, Nemak
carried out its second
engagement survey to measure
key engagement drivers within
the company and assess factors
such as employee recognition,
benefits, job role, training
and development, safety, and
work environment. Conducting
an engagement survey is
crucial, not only to identify
Nemak’s strengths and the
opportunities for improvement,
but also to facilitate two-way
communication between
its employees and the
management.
2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Nemak invested US$18.9 M in programs and initiatives that
fostered the development, safety and wellbeing of its employees.
Occupational Health & Safety
In 2018, Nemak invested US$18.9 million
in programs and initiatives that fostered the
personal and professional development, the
safety, and well-being of its employees.
The company held its second Global HSE Week,
reinforcing its commitment to sustainabilityrelated issues and providing employees with
opportunities to strengthen safety practices in
the workplace. Additional activities—including
daily management walkabouts to identify safety
hazards, specialized trainings on working at
height, dynamic risk assessments, and the
Pause, Think, Act initiative, among others—
contributed to reduce the rate of accidents
compared with the previous year.
2018

2017

Accidents rate

2.58

2.78

Number of LTC 1

189 cases

235 cases

Number of NLTC 2

394 cases

395 cases

Lost days

4,570 days

5,472 days

Fatalities

0

2

1 = Lost Time Cases
2 = No Lost Time Cases

During 2018, Nemak invested more than US$4.7
million in health and wellness initiatives benefiting
employees and their families. These included
providing complementary medical insurance for
children, baby home safety kits for new parents,
and weight loss and smoking cessation support,
among other programs and services, benefiting
NEMAK

more than 26,000 people.
Communities
Nemak continued to explore and implement
ways to increase its contribution to society
and fulfill its responsibility to support the
creation of social and economic value. In
2018, this included the construction of a
meeting room for small businesses and
entrepreneurs in the city hall of Betim, Brazil;
donations of academic material, talks and
other forms of support to more than 53
local schools benefiting 8,020 students;
and the development of support programs
for vulnerable children from neighboring
communities. The Nemak Achievers
Scholarship program granted five partial
scholarships to university-bound students,
in recognition of their academic potential
and chosen educational and career paths
in manufacturing and engineering. They
also received a paid summer internship with
Nemak for every year of their university career.
In-kind or cash donations supported a total
of 73 social assistance institutions, and 390
employees invested 15 hours on average
per employee in volunteering activities.
Additionally, 569 students benefited from
65 agreements with universities and the
internships in Nemak’s facilities.
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Operating summary
In 2018, Nemak made strides in the execution of its
strategy, leveraging its capabilities across propulsion
and vehicle structure applications to support automotive
lightweighting and electrification efforts.
The automotive industry saw stable overall conditions
in the company’s main markets. In North America, light
vehicle sales slightly increased vis-a-vis 2017, aided
by a continued strong U.S. economy. In Europe, sales
were similar to the previous year. Meanwhile, Brazil
saw growth in light vehicle sales, whereas in China, the
industry reported slightly lower figures than 2017.

During the year, Nemak was awarded new contracts
worth US$770 million in annual revenues, 50% of which
came from new business, as opposed to replacements
of existing production programs. The company also
strengthened its foundation in its new SC/EV business,
winning contracts worth approximately US$280 million.
To date, the company has signed contracts in its SC/EV
segment worth US$600 million, bringing it closer to its
stated goal of reaching US$1 billion in revenues by 2022.

In turn, the company sold 50.0 million equivalent units
in 2018, similar to the amount sold in 2017. However,
Nemak’s average selling price increased compared to
2017, mainly reflecting higher aluminum prices. As a
result of the combination of stable volumes but higher
selling prices, Nemak’s 2018 revenues amounted to
US$4.7 billion, a 5% increase over 2017.
The company saw improved financial results in 2018
as efficiency gains, better product mix, and other nonrecurring factors more than offset higher energy costs
and other expenses. Thus, 2018 EBITDA increased 3%
vis-a-vis 2017, to US$734 million. 2018 EBITDA per unit
was US$14.70, almost 3% higher than US$14.30 the
previous year.
Nemak’s capital expenditures amounted to US$403
million in 2018, focusing investments on supporting
new launches across its product lines. Also, funds were
invested in projects to drive higher value-added content,
such as increased in-house machining.

NEMAK
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REGIONAL OPERATIONS
North America

In 2018, the North American
automotive industry reported
vehicle sales in the order of
17.3 million units, a level that
exceeded industry analysts’
estimates at the beginning of
the year. Consumers continued
to favor crossovers, SUVs, and
pickup trucks over passenger
cars. In response to this trend,
some North American OEMs
decided to reduce, relocate, or
discontinue the production of
passenger car lines, redeploying
resources into larger vehicles.
Nemak took advantage of strong
industry performance to sell
29.7 million equivalent units in
North America in 2018, 4% more
than the year before. Average
selling prices also increased,
contributing to an overall
revenue of US$2.6 billion, up
6% compared to 2017. Higher
revenues translated into EBITDA
growth of 2% vs. 2017.

NEMAK

Europe

General economic conditions
in Europe improved during
2018, positively influencing light
vehicle sales in the first part of
the year. However, the roll out
of new, stricter emission testing
procedures in September caused
light vehicle sales to slow, as
the OEMs suffered delays in
launching new models to the
market. As a result, full-year light
vehicle sales were 20.1 million
units, slightly lower than the
year before. Regarding vehicle
mix, gasoline-powered engines
continued to win share over
diesel, a trend to which both
the OEMs and their suppliers,
including Nemak, have been
gradually adapting.
Nemak volumes were affected
by the above-mentioned
circumstances, finishing at 15.3
million equivalent units, 5%
less than 2017. Despite lower
volumes, average selling prices
increased, partially reflecting
higher aluminum costs. In
turn, total revenues reached
US$1.6 billion, 5% more than
the previous year, while EBITDA
increased 12% vis-a-vis 2017 to
US$261 million.

Rest of World

The Rest of World region is
comprised of the company’s
operations in South America
(mainly Brazil) and Asia
(mainly China). Improving
macroeconomic conditions
helped vehicle sales in Brazil,
but the economic deceleration
contributed to sluggish vehicle
sales in China.
Insofar as Nemak is
concerned, 2018 volumes
totaled 5 million equivalent
units, 4% lower than 2017, as
higher sales in Brazil were not
enough to offset production
reductions among certain
customers in China.
Reflecting the above, 2018
revenue in the region was
US$428 million, down 2% visa-vis 2017, and 2018 EBITDA
was US$17 million lower than
the previous year.
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GRI Standards: 102-18, 102-22

Board of Directors
ARMANDO GARZA SADA 3

Chairman of the Board of ALFA,
S. A. B. de C. V.
Chairman of the Board of
ALFA, S. A. B. de C. V. Board
Member of Nemak since April
1999. Chairman of the Boards
of ALPEK and NEMAK. Member
of the Boards of AXTEL, BBVA
Bancomer, CEMEX, FEMSA,
Grupo Lamosa, Liverpool, Proeza
and ITESM.

ÁLVARO FERNÁNDEZ GARZA 3

President of ALFA, S. A. B. de C. V.
Board Member of Nemak since
March 2010. Chairman of the
Universidad de Monterrey
(UDEM). Member of the Boards
of Citibanamex, Cydsa, Grupo
Aeroportuario del Pacífico,
Vitro, and Museo de Arte
Contemporáneo de Monterrey.

JUAN CARLOS CALDERÓN ROJAS 3

Former Vice President of Sustainability at
ALFA S. A. B. de C. V.
Board Member of Nemak since
June 2015. Member of the
Boards of Coparmex Nuevo
Leon and Grupo Franca.

NEMAK

ROBERT J. FASCETTI 1

Former Vice President of Powertrain
Engineering at Ford Motor Company
Board Member of Nemak since
December 2005. He has more
than 29 years of powertrain and
product development experience
at Ford Motor Company.

DAVID FILIPE

Vice President of Powertrain Engineering
at Ford Motor Company.
Board Member of Nemak since
December 2017. He has more
than 26 years of powertrain and
vehicle programs experience
with multiple global assignments.
His responsibilities include
delivery of all of Ford’s engine,
transmission, and electrification
products.

EUGENIO GARZA HERRERA 1A

Chairman of the Board of Xignux,
S. A. de C. V.
Board Member of Nemak
since June 2015. Member of
the board of Corporación EG,
Citibanamex, Endeavor, Cydsa,
Mexico Evalua, Pak2Go, Arcelor
Mittal México, Akaan, and Centro
Roberto Garza Sada de Arte,
Arquitectura y Diseño de la
UDEM. Additionally, President

of the Consejo Consultivo
Norte de Citibanamex and the
Comisión de Transparencia,
Gobierno Eficaz y Mejora
Regulatoria del Consejo de
Nuevo León. In addition, he is
member of the Executive Board
of the Committee of Institutional
Government and Chairman of
the Development Committee of
the ITESM and of the Consejo
Regional Banco de Mexico.

FABIOLA GARZA SADA 2

Investor
Board Member of Nemak since
June 2015. Member of the Board
of ALFA Fundacion.

EDUARDO GARZA T. FERNÁNDEZ 1A

President of Grupo Frisa Industrias
Board Member of Nemak since
June 2015. Member of the Board
of Grupo Lamosa. Participates
as board member at the ITESM,
Consejo Nacional de Alianzas
Educativas, BBVA Bancomer
S.A., Corporación EG, Consejo
Nuevo León para la Planeación
Estratégica, and Grupo Ragassa.

ALFONSO GONZÁLEZ MIGOYA 1A

Chairman of the Board of Controladora
Vuela Compañía de Aviación, S. A. B. de C. V.
Board Member of Nemak since
June 2015. Member of the
Boards of Femsa, Coca-Cola
Femsa, the Mexican Stock
Exchange, Banregio Grupo
Financiero, Javer and Cuprum.

GARY LAPIDUS 1

Independent investor and consultant
Board Member of Nemak since
June 2015. Former Institutional
Investor-ranked automobile
and auto parts Senior Equity
Research Analyst at Goldman,
Sachs & Co. and Sanford C.
Bernstein & Co. Previously Mr.
Lapidus was a Principal with the
management consulting firm
Booz-Allen & Hamilton.

ALEJANDRO RUIZ FERNÁNDEZ 2

President of Pronto Proyects,
S. A. de C. V.
Board Member of Nemak since
June 2015. Board Member
of Pronto Proyects, and
Constructora e Inmobiliaria
Malsa.

ADRIÁN G. SADA CUEVA 1

President of Vitro, S. A. B. de C. V.
Board Member of Nemak
since June 2015. Member of
the Boards of Vitro and Grupo
Financiero Banorte.

CARLOS JIMÉNEZ BARRERA
Secretary

STUART ROWLEY 2

Vice President and Chief Operating Officer,
Ford North Company
Board Member of Nemak since
February 2017. Stuart has over
26 years of experience with Ford
Motor Company in finance and
strategy positions globally. Prior
to assuming his present position,
Stuart was Vice President and
Controller of Ford from April
2012 to June 2016.

Independent Board Member
Patrimonial Board Member
3
Related Patrimonial Board Member
A
Audit and Corporate Practices Committee
1

2
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Management team
ARMANDO TAMEZ

KNUT BENTIN

KLAUS LELLIG

LUIS PEÑA

ERNESTO SAENZ

MARKUS NOLTE

JOSEF NUESCHEN

MARC WINTERHALTER

ALBERTO SADA

CEO

BU Director USA /
CAN & SA

Structural and Electric Vehicle
Components Director

NEMAK

BU Director Mexico

BU Director Asia

VP Product Development,
Manufacturing & Purchasing

BU Director Europe

VP of Commercial

CFO

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

22

NEMAK AT
A GLANCE

LETTER TO
SHAREHOLDERS

LIGHTWEIGHTING
DEVELOPMENTS

SUSTAINABILITY

OPERATING
SUMMARY

BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

MANAGEMENT
TEAM

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL
SECTION

GRI Standards: 102-18, 102-19, 102-20, 102-22, 102-24, 102-25, 102-26

Corporate governance
Nemak operates in accordance with the Code
of Principles and Best Corporate Governance
Practices (before Code of Best Corporate
Practices) in place in Mexico since 2000. The
Purpose of the Code is to establish a frame
of reference for corporate governance and
thereby increase investor confidence in Mexican
companies.
Once a year, all companies that are listed on
the Mexican Stock Exchange, S.A.B. de C.V.
(Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, S.A.B. de C.V.)
must disclose the extent to which they adhere
to the CMPC by answering a questionnaire. The
responses of the different companies may be
consulted on the BMV’s website. A summary
of Nemak’s principles of corporate governance
is presented below, reflecting the answers the
company gave to the questionnaire in June 2018
and updated where necessary.
1. The Board of Directors is made up of thirteen
members, who have no alternates. Of the
thirteen directors, six are independent board
members. This annual report provides
information on all the board members,
identifying those who are independent and
their participation in the Audit and Corporate
Practices Committee.
2. The Board of Directors is advised by the
Audit and Corporate Practices Committee,
which is made up of independent board
members. The Committee Chairman is an
independent board member.

NEMAK

3. The Board of Directors meets four times per
year. Meetings of the Board may be called
by the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman
of the Audit and Corporate Practices
Committee, the Secretary of the Board or at
least 25% of its members. At least one such
meeting every year is dedicated to defining
the company’s medium and long-term
strategies.
4. Members must inform the Chairman of the
Board of any conflicts of interest that may
arise, and abstain from participating in any
related deliberations. Average attendance at
Board meetings was 84.6% during 2018.
5. The Audit and Corporate Practices
Committee studies and issues
recommendations to the Board of Directors
on matters such as selecting and determining
the fees to be paid to the external auditor,
coordinating with the company’s internal
audit area and studying accounting policies.
6. Additionally, the Audit and Corporate
Practices Committee is responsible for
issuing recommendations to the Board of
Directors on matters related to corporate
practices, such as employment terms and
severance payments for senior executives,
and compensation policies.

7. The company has internal control systems
with general guidelines that are submitted to
the Audit and Corporate Practices Committee
for its opinion. In addition, the external auditor
validates the effectiveness of the internal
control system and issues reports thereon.
8. The Board of Directors is advised by the
planning and finance department when
evaluating matters relating to the feasibility
of investments, strategic positioning of
the company, alignment of investing and
financing policies, and review of investment
projects. This is carried out in coordination
with the planning and finance department of
the holding company, ALFA, S. A. B. de C. V.
9. Nemak has a department specifically
dedicated to maintaining an open line of
communication between the company and
its shareholders and investors. This ensures
that investors have the financial and general
information they require to evaluate the
company’s development and progress.
Nemak uses press releases, notices of
material events, quarterly results conference
calls, investor meetings, its website and
other communication channels.
10. Nemak promotes good corporate citizenship
and adheres to the recommendations of
its holding company, ALFA, S. A. B. de C.
V. It has a mission, vision and values, and
code of ethics that are promoted within the
organization.
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Consolidated
Financial
Statements
Nemak, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries
(Subsidiary of Alfa, S. A. B. de C. V.)

Consolidated Financial Statements
as of and for the Years Ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and
Independent Auditors’ Report Dated
January 31, 2019
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results (“MD&A”)
The following report should be considered in conjunction with the Letter to
Shareholders (pages 6 – 8) and the Audited Financial Statements (pages 29 – 74).
Unless otherwise indicated, figures are stated in millions of nominal Mexican pesos
from 2018, 2017 and 2016. Percentage changes are shown in nominal terms.
The financial information discussed in this MD&A corresponds to the last three years
(2018, 2017, and 2016) and has been prepared in compliance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The analysis comprises three years in order
to adapt it to the “Disposiciones de Carácter General, aplicables a las Emisoras de
Valores y a otros Participantes del Mercado de Valores” (Standards issued by the
Mexican securities authority) as of December 31, 2018.
Monterrey, N.L., Mexico. January 31, 2019.

ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

The global economic environment remained favorable in 2018; however, risks
persisted in financial markets, driven by economic policy decisions made in
developed nations, the geopolitical environment, trade tensions, and downward
revisions of Eurozone growth forecasts. In the U.S., there was an initial economic
boost from the tax incentives offered by the current administration, but something
of a slowdown was noted by the end of the year. Energy exporting emerging
economies were helped by higher oil prices in the first half of 2018. The Mexican
peso appreciated slightly against the U.S. dollar compared to last year, despite the
headwinds facing the Mexican economy.
Regarding international trade, the most relevant development for Mexico was the
announcement by the United States, Mexico, and Canada of a new trilateral trade
agreement in September 2018, following a long negotiation process that began early
in 2017. As of the date of this report, the three countries involved had not yet initiated
their respective processes of legislative review; nonetheless, the announcement in
itself marked an important step towards restoring certainty to the rules governing
trade in North America. Based on its discussions with industry peers and partners,
Nemak believes that the new agreement may help to strengthen economic integration
in the region.

NEMAK

The following paragraphs contain commentary on the performance of GDP and other
economic variables in Mexico and globally, which are key to better understanding the
results of Nemak in 2018:
Mexico’s Gross Domestic Product (PIB) was 2.1% in 2018 (estimated), in line with that
of 2017(a). Consumer inflation was 4.8%(b) in 2018, lower than the 6.7%(b) registered
in 2017. For the second consecutive year the Mexican peso appreciated in nominal
terms, showing an increase of 0.1%(c), which compared to 4.6%(c) in 2017. In real
terms, annual average overvaluation of the peso against the dollar slid from 3.1%(d) in
2017 to 1.0%(d) in 2018.
Regarding interest rates in Mexico, the average TIIE (Interbank Interest Rate) for
2018 was 7.6%(b) in nominal terms, which compared to 7.2% in 2017. There was an
increase in real terms, from a cumulative rate of 7.3% in 2017 to 7.8% in 2018, in line
with decisions made by Banxico.
The nominal three month LIBOR rate in dollars, at an average annual rate, was 2.3%(b)
in 2018, above the 1.7%(c) registered in 2017. If the nominal appreciation of the
Mexican peso against the dollar is included, the LIBOR rate in constant pesos rose
from 1.3%(b) in 2017 to 1.6%(b) in 2018.

Sources:
a = Instituto Nacional de Estadística, Geografía e Informática de México (INEGI)
b= Banco de México (Banxico)
c= Banxico. Exchange rate to redeem obligations in foreign currency payable within Mexico
d= Nemak´s proprietary calculations with INEGI data, reciprocally with the US, considering consumer prices.
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RESULTS

2018 HIGHLIGHTS

2018 VS 2017
Total Revenues amounted to $90,327, up 6.5% from the $84,779 reported in 2017.
The main factor behind the increase was higher average selling prices, which reflected
increases in the price of aluminum, Nemak’s main production input. As explained in
past reports, changes in the price of aluminum are passed on to customers according
to contractually-established formulas.

U.S. DOLLAR BOND ISSUANCE
In January 2018, Nemak issued a 7-year US$500 million bond in the international debt
markets, which bore a coupon of 4.75%. The proceeds were used to prepay shortermaturity, higher-coupon U.S. dollar debt in a similar amount, enabling the Company
to further extend the average life of its debt and obtain savings in financial expenses
worth approximately US$3.75 million per year.

Cost of Goods Sold (COGS), which includes depreciation of fixed assets, was
$76,878, up 7.1% from the $71,812 reported in 2017. The increase in COGS basically
reflected higher raw materials and energy costs.

NEW CONTRACTS
During the year, Nemak was awarded new contracts with customers worth US$ 770
million in annual revenues, of which approximately 50% represented incremental
revenues and the other half replacement business.

Sales, General and Administrative (SG&A) expenses decreased to $5,746, down 1.2%
from the $5,818 reported in 2017. Operating efficiencies and lower depreciation more
than compensated for higher energy expenses in 2018.
2018 Operating Income reached $7,824, up 11.5% from the $7,015 gained in 2017.
The increase was mainly due to higher revenues and lower SG&A, as explained above.
In turn, EBITDA (Operating Income plus Depreciation and Amortization, plus/minus
other non-cash charges) was $14,104 in 2018, up 4.1% from the $13,546 obtained
the year before, thanks to the increase in Operating Income already explained.
Net Financial Result amounted to $2,220, up 16.9% from the $1,900 reported in 2017.
The main reason for the increase was higher financial expenses, which was in part
related to the issuance of a bond in U.S. dollars (see below).
Income Taxes amounted to $2,276, much higher than the $1,484 reported in 2017.
Higher fiscal earnings explain higher taxes in 2018.
Net Income reached $3,464, down 6.2% from the $3,691 obtained in 2017. The
positive effect of higher operating profits was more than offset by higher net financial
results and taxes, as explained above. Earnings per share for 2018 was 1.125 pesos.
Capital Expenditures amounted to $7,786 in 2018. The Company deployed resources
to support new product launches as well as efforts to increase the share of its
products machined in-house.
At the end of 2018, Nemak’s Net Debt amounted to $24,624 (US$1.25 billion), slightly
lower than the $25,083 (US$1.27 billion) reported at the end of 2017. Nemak’s
financial condition remained solid in 2018. Key financial ratios were the following:
Debt, net of cash, to EBITDA of 1.7 times; Interest Coverage, 7.8 times. These ratios
compared to 1.8 and 11.2, respectively, in 2017.

DEVELOPMENT OF STRUCTURAL AND ELECTRIC VEHICLE COMPONENTS
(SC/EV) BUSINESS
During 2018, Nemak achieved key milestones in the development of its SC/EV
business, including:
• Won contracts to produce these parts worth US$280 million, bringing its total order
book in the segment up to US$600 million in annual revenues.
• By the end of the year, it had produced and sold more than four million parts in this
segment.
• In Slovakia, Nemak achieved peak volume levels of its first program to produce
structural components, supplying several SUV and sports car models of customer
Volkswagen Group.
• In Mexico, Nemak earned a special recognition from Audi for its successful track record
of providing structural components with zero defects for the customer’s Q5 SUV.
• attery housings represent one of its fastest-growing product lines in the SC/EV
segment. Based on contracts won to date, the Company estimates that it will have a
market share of approximately 20% in battery housings for plug-in hybrid vehicles in
North America and Europe by 2020.
• Nemak began working with a Chinese OEM on the development of structural
components for pure-electric vehicles.
AWARDS
Thanks to its outstanding performance, Nemak received the “Supplier of the Year”
award from customer General Motors. Nemak has been selected as a winner of this
award fourteen times.
Nemak was selected as a finalist for the 2018 Automotive News Pace Awards for
the adaption of its patented Rotacast® casting process for use in the production of
aluminum engine blocks.

NEMAK
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RATING AGENCY UPGRADE
In October 2018, Nemak announced that Fitch Ratings upgraded its Issuer Default
Rating (IDR) on a global scale to ‘BBB-’ from ‘BB+’ and its long-term national scale
rating to ‘AA(mex)’ from ‘AA-(mex)’. The Company believes that this upgrade reflects
its successful track record of prudent financial management as well as its solid credit
profile, as evidenced by having kept its Net Debt-to-EBITDA ratio below 2.0 times for
more than 21 consecutive quarters.

RESULTS
2017 VS 2016
Total Revenues amounted to $84,779 in 2017, up 7% from the $79,244 reported in
2016. The main reason for the increase was higher selling prices, which increased
as changes in the price of aluminum, Nemak’s main production input, are passed on
to customers according to contractually established formulas. Meanwhile, volumes
decreased 0.4% compared to the previous year, mainly due to lower demand from
customers in North America.
Cost of Goods Sold (COGS), which includes depreciation of fixed assets, was
$71,812 in 2017, a 9.9% increase compared to the $65,345 in 2016. The increase
in COGS basically reflects the increase in aluminum prices. As explained above,
aluminum price changes are transferred to customers as per contractual negotiations;
however, such transfers take time, resulting in what the Company calls “metal price
lag”, the effects of which can be negative (when aluminum prices go up), neutral
(when prices remain stable), or positive (when aluminum prices go down).
Sales, General and Administrative expenses increased to $5,818 in 2017, 17.4%
higher than the $4,957 reported in 2016. The main reason for the increase was
incremental expenses associated with the new programs launched during the year.
As a result of the negative metal price lag and the increase in expenses already
explained, the 2017 Operating Income reached $7,015, a 19.2% decrease over the
$8,684 reported in 2016. In turn, EBITDA (Operating Income plus Depreciation and
Amortization, plus/minus other non-cash charges) was $13,546, 8.8% lower than
the $14,849 reported in 2016. The main reason for the decrease was the reduction in
Operating Income already explained.
Net Financial Result amounted to $1,900 in 2017, up 32% from the $1,439 reported in
2016.

Income Taxes amounted to $1,484 in 2017, 21.5% lower than the $1,890 paid in
2016. A lower Net Income, as explained in the following paragraph, was the main
cause for the decrease.
Net Income reached $3,691, 31.8% lower than the $5,410 reported in 2016. The
decrease was mainly the result of lower Operating Income and higher Net Financial
Result.
Capital Expenditures and acquisitions amounted to $8,279 in 2017. Investments
were made across the regions where the Company operates to increase and adapt
production capacity to meet demand linked to recently won contracts, but also to
achieve greater production efficiency.
At the end of 2017, Nemak’s Net Debt amounted to $25,083, 3.8% lower than the
$26,074 reported at the end of 2016. The restatement of foreign debt into Mexican
pesos explains most of the decrease.
In U.S. dollars, Net Debt was US$1,271 million as of the end of 2017, similar to the
US$1,262 million reported in 2016.
Nemak’s financial condition remained solid in 2017. Key financial ratios were the
following: Debt, net of cash, to EBITDA of 1.8 times; Interest Coverage, 11.2 times.
These ratios were similar to those at the end of 2016.

2017 HIGHLIGHTS
EUROBOND ISSUANCE
In March 2017, Nemak issued a 7-year 500 million euro-denominated bond in the
international debt markets, which bore a coupon of 3.25%. The proceeds were
used to prepay shorter maturity debt in a similar amount, increasing the average life
from four to six years. Additionally, this placement enabled Nemak to better match
the currency mix of its debt and cash flows in euros.
LAUNCHED SEVEN PROGRAMS TO PRODUCE STRUCTURAL AND
ELECTRIC VEHICLE COMPONENTS
During 2017, Nemak brought on stream its first programs to produce structural and
electric vehicle (SC/EV) components. In total, seven programs were launched, while
three more remained in the testing phase as of the date of this report. For the year,
Nemak generated approximately US$100 million for total revenues in SC/EV.

The main factors behind the increase were, first, higher financial expenses due to
higher interest rates on existing debt and, second, exchange losses caused mainly by
variations in the wuro vs U.S. dollar exchange rate.

NEMAK
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Board of Directors
and Stockholders of Nemak, S. A. B. de C. V.
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nemak, S. A. B. de C. V.
and Subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statement
of income, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
years then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

ASSESSMENT OF LONG LIVES ASSETS AND GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

As described in Notes 3i., k. and l. to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company performs impairment tests on its long lived assets and goodwill.
We have been focused in the review of long lived assets and goodwill, mainly due
to the importance of the balance in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, and because impairment tests involve the application of significant
judgments by the Company’s management in determining the assumptions related to
the estimation of the recoverable value of its cash generating units (“CGUs”).

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 and its consolidated financial performance and cash
flows for the years then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

As part of our audit, we focused on the following significant assumptions that the
Company considered when estimating future projections to assess the recoverability of
long lived assets and goodwill: growth rate of the industry, new projects and significant
customers, estimated revenues, discount rates, expected gross profit margin and
projected cash flows. With support from our expert appraisers, our procedures, among
others, included:

BASIS FOR OPINION

• Identification of long-lived assets impairment indicators.

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the Code of Ethics issued by the Mexican
Institute of Public Accountants (“IMCP Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and with the IMCP Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. We have determined that the matters described
below are the key audit matters which should be communicated in our report.

NEMAK

• We reviewed the models applied to determine the recoverable value of long lived
assets and goodwill as well as the methods used and accepted for valuing assets
with similar characteristics.
• We challenged the financial projections by comparing them to the business
performance and historical trends, verifying the explanations of the variations with
management. In addition, we assessed the internal processes used by management
to make projections, including timely monitoring and analysis by the Board of
Directors, and if the projections are consistent with the budgets approved by the
Board.
• We analyzed the assumptions used in the impairment model, specifically including
the cash flow projections, EBITDA multiple and long-term growth plans. The key
assumptions used to estimate cash flows in impairment tests of the Company are
those related to revenue growth and operating margin.
• Independent assessment of discount rates used and the methodology used in the
preparation of the model of the impairment test. In addition, we tested the integrity
and accuracy of the impairment model.
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• We evaluated the factors and variables used to determine the CGUs, among which
were considered the analysis of operating cash flows and borrowing policies,
analysis of the legal structure, allocation of production and understanding of the
operation of the commercial area and sales.
• We discussed with management the sensitivity calculations for all CGUs, calculating
the degree to which the assumptions used will need to be changed, and the
likeliness these changes may arise.
The results of our procedures were satisfactory, and we believe the assumptions
used, including the discount rate, are reasonable.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

Management is responsible for the other information presented. The other information
includes two documents, the Annual Stock Exchange Filing and the information that
will be incorporated in the Annual Report that the Company must prepare pursuant
to the General Provisions Applicable to Issuers and other Participants in the Mexican
Stock Exchange and file it with the National Banking and Securities Commission
(“CNBV” for its acronym in Spanish). The Annual Stock Exchange Filing and the
Annual Report are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’
report.

ASSESSMENT OF THE RECOVERABILITY OF DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

Our opinion of the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance over it.

Due to the significance of the deferred income tax asset balance as of December 31,
2018 amounting to $1,251 million of Mexican pesos, and the significant judgments
and estimates to determine future projections of the Company’s taxable income, we
focused on this line item, among others, and performed the following procedures:

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility will be to read the other information, when available, and in doing so,
consider whether the other information contained therein is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or with our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to contain a material error. If based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter in a statement in the Annual Report required by the CNBV
and those charged with governance in the Company.

The Company records deferred income tax assets derived from tax losses.
Management performed an assessment of the probability of recovering the tax losses
carryforward to support the deferred tax assets recognized on its consolidated
financial statements.

• We verified the reasonableness of the projections used to determine future taxable
income.
• We challenged the projections used by comparing them to the business
performance and historical trends, verifying the explanations of the variations with
management.
• With the support of internal experts, we assessed the processes used to determine
the projected taxable income, and the assumptions used by management in
preparing tax projections.
• We discussed with management the sensitivity analysis and assessed the degree
to which the key assumptions used would need to be modified in order for an
adjustment to be considered for evaluation.
The results of our audit procedures were satisfactory. The Company’s accounting
policy for the recording of deferred taxes, as well as the detail of their disclosure
are included in Notes 3m. and 23, respectively, to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

NEMAK

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s
consolidated financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

NEMAK

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Company and subsidiaries to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision, and performance of the Company and subsidiaries audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S.C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C. P. C. Roberto Benavides González
Monterrey, Nuevo León, Mexico
January 31, 2019
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (In millions of Mexican pesos)
AS OF DECEMBER 31
NOTE

2018

NOTE

2017

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT ASSETS:

LIABILITIES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

6

$

RESTRICTED CASH

7

617

113

TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

8

10,247

INVENTORIES

9

ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE
PREPAID EXPENSES
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

3,555

$

3,757

2018

2017

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
DEBT

14

11,406

TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

13

12,518

12,694

INCOME TAXES PAYABLE

-

32

468

434

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

27,405

28,436

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
15

$

2,806

$

1,494

22,480

22,949

452

274

-

9

806

783

26,544

25,509

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

10

51,629

52,274

DEBT

14

26,352

27,905

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

11

11,307

12,782

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

16

1,238

1,225

23

701

1,002

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

23

2,806

3,346

8, 24

706

688

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

15

214

281

12

1,510

1,507

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

30,610

32,757

65,853

68,253

57,154

58,266

$ 93,258

$ 96,689

CAPITAL STOCK

6,604

6,604

SHARE PREMIUM

10,434

10,434

RETAINED EARNINGS

11,567

12,722

OTHER RESERVES

7,499

8,663

36,104

38,423

$ 93,258

$ 96,689

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
OTHER NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer

NEMAK

Alberto Sada Medina
Chief Financial Officer

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

17

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (In millions of Mexican pesos, except for earnings per share amounts)

NOTE
REVENUES

25

COST OF SALES

19

2018
$

GROSS PROFIT

90,327

2017
$

84,779

(76,878)

(71,812)

13,449

12,967

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

19

(5,746)

(5,818)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

20

121

(134)

7,824

7,015

OPERATING INCOME
FINANCIAL INCOME

21

200

417

FINANCIAL EXPENSES

21

(1,955)

(1,542)

LOSS DUE TO EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION, NET

21

(465)

(775)

FINANCIAL RESULTS, NET

21

(2,220)

(1,900)

EQUITY IN INCOME OF ASSOCIATES RECOGNIZED USING THE EQUITY METHOD

12

136

60

5,740

5,175

(2,276)

(1,484)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
INCOME TAXES

23

NET CONSOLIDATED INCOME

$

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE, IN MEXICAN PESOS
WEIGHTED AVERAGE OUTSTANDING SHARES (MILLIONS)

17

3,464

$

3,691

1.13

1.20

3,079

3,079

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer

NEMAK

Alberto Sada Medina
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

NOTE
NET CONSOLIDATED INCOME

2018
$

3,464

2017
$

3,691

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR:
ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME:
REMEASUREMENT OF EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS, NET OF TAXES

23

18

(31)

EFFECT OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTRACTED
AS CASH FLOW HEDGES, NET OF TAXES

23

78

63

EFFECT OF TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN ENTITIES

23

(1,260)

879

(1,164)

911

ITEMS THAT WILL BE RECLASSIFIED TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME:

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME OF THE YEAR
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

$ 2,300

$

4,602

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer

NEMAK

Alberto Sada Medina
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

CAPITAL STOCK

SHARE PREMIUM

$ 6,607

$ 10,434

$ 12,309

$ 7,721

$ 37,071

(3)

-

3

-

-

-

-

(3,163)

-

(3,163)

(3)

-

(3,160)

-

(3,163)

NET INCOME

-

-

3,691

-

3,691

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OF THE YEAR

-

-

(31)

942

911

3,660

942

4,602

BALANCES AS OF JANUARY 1, 2017

RETAINED EARNINGS

OTHER RESERVES

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

TRANSACTIONS WITH STOCKHOLDERS:
OTHER
DIVIDENDS DECLARED

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
-

-

(87)

-

(87)

6,604

10,434

12,722

8,663

$ 38,423

OTHER

-

-

29

-

29

DIVIDENDS

-

-

(3,281)

-

(3,281)

6,604

10,434

9,470

8,663

35,171

NET INCOME

-

-

3,464

-

3,464

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OF THE YEAR

-

-

-

(1,164)

(1,164)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

-

-

3,464

(1,164)

2,300

INITIAL ADOPTION OF IFRS

-

-

(1,354)

-

(1,354)

OTHER

-

-

(13)

-

(13)

$ 6,604

$ 10,434

$ 11,567

$ 7,499

$ 36,104

OTHER
BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
TRANSACTIONS WITH STOCKHOLDERS:

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer
NEMAK

Alberto Sada Medina
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

2018

2018

2017

74

362

CASH FLOW IN ACQUISITIONS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(6,379)

(6,732)

CASH FLOW IN ACQUISITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(1,407)

(1,547)

-

21

(536)

(426)

25

83

(8,223)

(8,239)

14,201

15,827

(13,823)

(16,133)

(1,768)

(1,545)

(15)

-

24

(21)

(3,265)

(3,163)

(4,646)

(5,035)

73

1,085

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(275)

11

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

3,757

2,661

$ 3,555

$ 3,757

2017
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INTEREST COLLECTED

$ 5,740

$ 5,175

6,166

6,320

COSTS RELATED TO EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

85

97

LOSS ON SALE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

22

-

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

115

211

RESTRICTED CASH

465

775

OTHER

1,588

1,000

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(58)

(309)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION, NET
INTEREST EXPENSE, NET
OTHER

DIVIDENDS COLLECTED

PROCEEDS FROM DEBT

MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL:
45

(323)

PAYMENTS OF DEBT

(158)

(591)

INTEREST PAID

440

3,690

INCOME TAXES PAID

(1,508)

(1,686)

OTHER

NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

12,942

14,359

DIVIDENDS PAID

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
INVENTORIES
SUPPLIERS AND RELATED PARTIES

DERIVATIVE PAYMENTS

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer

NEMAK

Alberto Sada Medina
Chief Financial Officer

Investing and financing activities not requiring the use of cash flows:
In 2017, the transactions that did not require cash flows corresponds to $66 relates to finance leases. However, in
2018, there were no transactions that required cash flows related to finance leases.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Millions of Mexican pesos, except where otherwise indicated)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Nemak, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries (“Nemak” or the “Company”), subsidiary
of Alfa, S. A. B. de C. V. (“ALFA”), is a market leader providing innovative lightweight
solutions in the global automotive industry, specialized in the production and
development of aluminum components for the powertrain and body structural
applications. The main offices of Nemak are located in Libramiento Arco Vial Km. 3.8,
Col. Centro in García, Nuevo León, Mexico.
When reference is made to the controlling entity Nemak, S. A. B. of C. V. as an
individual legal entity, it will be referred to as “Nemak SAB”.
Nemak SAB is a public corporation whose shares are listed on the Mexican Stock
Exchange. The Company is owned by ALFA at 75.2%; by Ford Motor Company at
5.4% and of a group of Mexican and foreign investors through the Mexican Stock
Exchange for the remaining 19.3%. ALFA has control over the relevant activities of the
Company.
In the notes to the consolidated financial statements, reference to pesos, pesos
mexicanos or “$” stands for millions of Mexican pesos. The captions dollars or
“US$” refer to millions of U.S. dollars. In the case of information in millions of euros,
reference will be made to “EUR” or Euros.

2. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

2018
a. On January 11, 2018, Nemak issued US$500 (with issuance cost of US$5) of 4.75%
Senior Notes with 7-year maturity on the Irish Stock Exchange and the Global Stock
Market, under Rule 144A, and under the Regulation S. The transaction resources were
mainly used to prepay in advance the Senior Notes USD 2023.
2017
A. OPENING OF A NEW OPERATING PLANT IN MEXICO
On March 1, 2017, Nemak announced the inauguration of its new High Pressure Die
Casting plant (“HPDC”) at the facilities of García, N.L. The new plant uses HPDC
technology for the production of aluminum auto parts, particularly monoblocks,
transmission housings and structural parts. In addition, it includes a machining center
for the processing of such components. The investment required in the plant was
approximately US$200 and mass production began during the first half of the year.

NEMAK

B. PLACEMENT OF DEBT BONDS IN THE EUROPEAN MARKET
On March 9, 2017, Nemak issued Senior Notes on the London Stock Exchange and
to qualified institutional investors in the amount of Euro 500, through a private offering
under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the U.S. Securities Act. The Senior Notes accrue
an annual coupon of 3.25%, maturing in 7 years. The proceeds were mainly used to
prepay other financial liabilities with shorter maturity terms.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the most significant accounting policies followed by Nemak and its
subsidiaries, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial
information in the years presented, unless otherwise specified:
A. BASIS FOR PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements of Nemak have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS include all International Accounting
Standards (“IAS”) in effect and all related interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), including those previously
issued by the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for the cash flow hedges which are measured at fair value.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. Additionally, it requires
management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where judgments and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 5.
B. CONSOLIDATION
i. Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries are all the entities over which the Company has control. The
Company controls an entity when it is exposed, or has the right to variable returns
from its interest in the entity and it is capable of affecting the returns through its power
over the entity. When the Company’s participation in subsidiaries is less than 100%,
the share attributed to outside shareholders is reflected recorded as non-controlling
interest. The gain or loss of the subsidiaries, as well as their assets and liabilities, are
consolidated in full from the date on which control is transferred to the Company and
up to the date it loses such control.
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The accounting method used by the Company for business combinations is the
acquisition method. The Company defines a business combination as a transaction
in which it gains control of a business, and through which it is able to direct and
manage the relevant activities of the set of assets and liabilities of such business
with the purpose of providing a return in the form of dividends, smaller costs or other
economic benefits directly to stockholders.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the
Company. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable acquired assets
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are initially
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company recognizes any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree based on the share of the non-controlling
interest in the net identifiable assets of the acquired entity.
The Company accounts for business combinations using the predecessor method in
a jointly controlled entity. The predecessor method involves the incorporation of the
carrying amounts of the acquired entity, which includes the goodwill recognized at the
consolidated level with respect to the acquiree. Any difference between the carrying
value of the net assets acquired at the level of the subsidiary and its carrying amount
at the level of the Company are recognized in stockholders’ equity.
The acquisition-related costs are recognized as expenses when incurred.
Goodwill is initially measured as excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
and the fair value of the non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets and
liabilities assured. If the consideration transferred is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognized directly in the consolidated statement of income.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the value in books at the
acquisition date of the equity previously held by the Company in the acquired entity
is remeasured at its fair value at the acquisition date. Any loss or gain resulting from
such remeasurement is recorded in income of the year.
Transactions and intercompany balances and unrealized gains on transactions
between Nemak companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. In order to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company,
the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where it was deemed
necessary.
As of December 31, 2018, the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements of Nemak were as follows:
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COUNTRY 1

PERCENTAGE OF
OWNERSHIP (%) 2

FUNCTIONAL
CURRENCY

NEMAK, S. A. B. DE C. V. (HOLDING)

MEXICO

NEMAK MEXICO, S. A.

MEXICO

100

U.S. DOLLAR

GERMANY

100

EURO

CORPORATIVO NEMAK, S. A. DE C. V.
(ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES)

MEXICO

100

MEXICAN PESO

NEMAK CANADA, S. A. DE C. V. (HOLDING)

MEXICO

100

MEXICAN PESO

NEMAK OF CANADA CORPORATION

CANADA

100

CANADIAN DOLLAR

NEMAK GAS, S. A. DE C. V.

MEXICO

100

MEXICAN PESO

NEMAK AUTOMOTIVE, S. A. DE C. V.

MEXICO

100

MEXICAN PESO

USA

100

U.S. DOLLAR

GERMANY

100

EURO

SPAIN

100

EURO

NEMAK DILLINGEN GMBH

GERMANY

100

EURO

NEMAK DILLINGEN CASTING GMBH & CO KG

GERMANY

100

EURO

NEMAK WERNIGERODE GMBH

GERMANY

100

EURO

NEMAK WERNIGERODE GMBH & CO KG

GERMANY

100

EURO

NEMAK LINZ GMBH

AUSTRIA

100

EURO

NEMAK GYÖR KFT

HUNGARY

100

EURO

NEMAK POLAND SP. Z.O.O.

POLAND

100

EURO

NEMAK SLOVAKIA, S. R. O.

SLOVAKIA

100

EURO

CZECH REPUBLIC

100

EURO

NEMAK SPAIN, S. L.

SPAIN

100

EURO

NEMAK RUS, LLC.

RUSSIA

100

RUSSIAN RUBLE

GERMANY

100

EURO

BRAZIL

100

BRAZILIAN REAL

ARGENTINA

100

ARGENTINEAN PESO

NEMAK NANJING AUTOMOTIVE COMPONENTS CO., LTD.

CHINA

100

CHINESE RENMINBI
YUAN

NEMAK CHONGQING AUTOMOTIVE
COMPONENTS, CO, LTD.

CHINA

100

CHINESE RENMINBI
YUAN

MODELLBAU SCHÖNHEIDE GMBH

CAMEN INTERNATIONAL TRADING, INC.
NEMAK EUROPE GMBH
NEMAK EXTERIOR, S. L. (HOLDING)

NEMAK CZECH REPUBLIC, S.R.O.

NEMAK PILSTING GMBH
NEMAK ALUMÍNIO DO BRAZIL LTDA.
NEMAK ARGENTINA, S. R. L.

U.S. DOLLAR
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COUNTRY

1

PERCENTAGE OF
OWNERSHIP (%) 2

FUNCTIONAL
CURRENCY

NEMAK ALUMINUM CASTING
INDIA PRIVATE, LTD

INDIA

100

INDIAN RUPEE

NEMRE INSURANCE PTE LTD

SINGAPORE

100

U.S. DOLLAR

NEMAK COMMERCIAL SERVICES, INC.

USA

100

U.S. DOLLAR

NEMAK USA, INC.

USA

100

U.S. DOLLAR

NEMAK USA SERVICES INC

USA

100

U.S. DOLLAR

NEMAK AUTOMOTIVE CASTINGS, INC.

USA

100

U.S. DOLLAR

NEMAK IZMIR DÖKÜM SANAYI A. .

TURKEY

100

EURO

NEMAK IZMIR DIS TICARET A. .

TURKEY

100

EURO

(1) Country of company’s incorporation.
(2) Direct and indirect ownership percentage of Nemak SAB. Share ownership percentages as of December 31, 2018
and 2017.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there are no significant restrictions on investment
in shares of the subsidiary companies mentioned above.
ii. Absorption (dilution) of control in subsidiaries
The effect of absorption (dilution) of control in subsidiaries, in example, an increase
or decrease in the percentage of control, is recorded in stockholders’ equity, directly
in retained earnings, in the period in which the transactions that cause such effects
occur. The effect of absorption (dilution) of control is determined by comparing the
book value of the investment before the event of dilution or absorption against the
book value after the relevant event. In the case of loss of control, the dilution effect is
recognized in income.
iii. Sale or disposal of subsidiaries
When the Company ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value, and the change in the carrying amount is recognized in the
consolidated statement of income. The fair value is the initial carrying value for the
purposes of accounting for any subsequent retained interest in the associate, joint
venture or financial asset. Any amount previously recognized in comprehensive
income in respect of that entity is accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets and liabilities. This implies that the amounts recognized
in the comprehensive income are reclassified to income for the year.

NEMAK

iv. Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not
control. Generally, an investor must hold between 20% and 50% of the voting rights
in an investee for it to be an associate. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method and are initially recognized at cost. The Company’s
investment in associates includes goodwill identified at acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment loss.
If the equity in an associate is reduced but significant influence is maintained, only a
portion of the amounts recognized in the comprehensive income are reclassified to
income for the year, where appropriate.
The Company’s share of profits or losses of associates, post-acquisition, is
recognized in the consolidated statement of income and its share in the other
comprehensive income of associates is recognized as other comprehensive income.
When the Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its equity
in the associate, including unsecured receivables, the Company does not recognize
further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that the investment in the associate is impaired. If so, the Company calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognizes it in “share of profit/loss of associates
recognized by the equity method” in the consolidated statements of income.
Unrealized gains on transactions between the Company and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Company’s equity in such gains. Unrealized losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence that the asset transferred is
impaired. In order to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company,
the accounting policies of associates have been modified. When the Company ceases
to have significant influence over an associate, any difference between the fair value
of the remaining investment, including any consideration received from the partial
disposal of the investment and the book value of the investment is recognized in the
consolidated statements of income.
C. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
i. Functional and presentation currency
The amounts included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates should be measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of Mexican pesos.
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When there is a change in the functional currency of one of the subsidiaries,
according to International Accounting Standard 21 - Effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates (“IAS 21”), this change is accounted for prospectively, translating at
the date of the change of functional currency, all assets, liabilities, equity and income
items to the exchange rate of that date.

c. The income, costs and expenses of the periods, expressed in the recording
currency, were translated at the historical exchange rate of the date they were
accrued and recognized in the income statement, except when they arose from
non-monetary items, in which case the historical exchange rate of the nonmonetary items were used.

ii. Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using
the foreign exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date or valuation date when
the amounts are re-measured. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the closing exchange rates are recognized as foreign
exchange gain or loss in the income statement, except for those which are deferred in
comprehensive income and qualify as cash flow hedges.

d. The exchange differences arising in the translation from the recording currency to
the functional currency were recognized as income or expense in the consolidated
statement of income in the period they arose.

Changes in the fair value of securities or monetary financial assets denominated
in foreign currency classified as available for sale are divided between fluctuations
resulting from changes in the amortized cost of such securities and other changes in
value. Subsequently, currency fluctuations are recognized in income and changes in
the carrying amount arising from any other circumstances are recognized as part of
comprehensive income.

a. Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing exchange rate at the closing date;

Conversion differences of non-monetary assets, for example, investments classified
as available for sale, are included in other comprehensive income.
Exchange differences of monetary assets classified as financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain
or loss of fair value.
Translation of subsidiaries with recording currency other than the functional
currency.
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, having a recording currency
different from their functional currency were translated into the functional currency in
accordance with the following procedure:

Translation of subsidiaries with functional currency other than the presentation
currency.
The results and financial position of all Nemak entities have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

b. Stockholders’ equity of each consolidated statement of financial position are
translated at historical rates.
c. Income and expenses for each income statement of income are translated at
average exchange rate (when the average exchange rate is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates of the transaction, to the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction is used); and
d. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition date of a foreign
transaction to measure them at their fair value are recognized as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and are converted to the closing exchange rate. The exchange
differences that arise are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

a. The balances of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in the recording
currency were translated at the closing exchange rates.
b. To the historical balances of monetary assets and liabilities and shareholders’
equity translated into the functional currency there were added the movements
occurred during the period, which were translated at historical exchange rates. In
the case of the movements of non-monetary items recognized at fair value, which
occurred during the period, stated in the recording currency, these were translated
using the historical exchange rates in effect on the date when the fair value was
determined.

NEMAK
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The primary exchange rates in the various translation processes are listed below:
LOCAL CURRENCY TO MEXICAN PESOS
CLOSING EXCHANGE

AVERAGE EXCHANGE

RATE AT DECEMBER 31

RATE DECEMBER 31,

COUNTRY

LOCAL CURRENCY

2018

2017

2018

2017

CANADA

CANADIAN DOLLAR

14.41

15.74

14.88

15.09

U.S. DOLLAR

19.68

19.75

20.15

19.10

BRAZILIAN REAL

5.07

5.96

5.18

5.81

ARGENTINEAN PESO

0.52

1.06

0.53

1.07

CZECH REPUBLIC

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

GERMANY

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

AUSTRIA

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

HUNGARY

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

POLAND

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

SLOVAKIA

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

SPAIN

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

CHINA

CHINESE RENMINBI YUAN

2.86

3.03

2.90

2.92

INDIA

INDIAN RUPEE

0.28

0.31

0.29

0.30

RUSSIAN RUBLE

0.28

0.34

0.29

0.33

U.S. DOLLAR

19.68

19.75

20.15

19.10

EURO

22.51

23.69

22.91

22.92

UNITED STATES
BRAZIL
ARGENTINA

RUSSIA
SINGAPORE
TURKEY

D. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits available for
operations and other short-term investments of high liquidity with original maturities of
three months or less, all of which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value
and maintain a high credit quality. Bank overdrafts are presented as loans as a part of
the current liabilities.
E. RESTRICTED CASH
Cash and cash equivalents whose restrictions cause them not to comply with the
definition of cash and cash equivalents given above, are presented in a separate line
in the consolidated statement of financial position and are excluded from cash and
cash equivalents in the consolidated statement cash flows.

NEMAK

F. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets
Through December 31, 2017, the Company classified financial assets into the
following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
investments held to maturity and available for sale. The classification depended on
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Beginning January 1, 2018, in accordance to the adoption of IFRS 9, Financial
Instruments, the Company subsequently classifies and measures its financial assets
based on the Company’s business model to manage financial assets, and on the
characteristics of the contractual cash flows of such assets. This way financial assets
can be classified at amortized cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and at fair value through profit or loss. Management determines the classification of
its financial assets upon initial recognition. Purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized at settlement date.
Financial assets are entirely written off when the right to receive the related cash flows
expires or is transferred, and the Company has also substantially transferred all the
risks and rewards of its ownership, as well as the control of the financial asset.
Classes of financial assets under IAS 39, in effect through December 31, 2017.
i. Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired mainly for the purpose of
being sold in the short term. Derivative financial instruments are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as hedges.
Financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized
at fair value, and transaction costs are recorded as an expense in the consolidated
statement of income. Gains or losses due to changes in the fair value of these assets
are presented in profit or loss of the period in which they are incurred.
Beginning January 1, 2018, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss still
maintain their classification according to the assessment of their business model (see
number vii in this section).
ii. Loans and receivables
Accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or specific
payments that are not traded in an active market. They are included as current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position, which are classified as non-current assets.
Loans and receivables are initially valued at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs and, subsequently, at amortized cost, using the effective interest
method. When circumstances indicate that amounts receivable will not be collected
in the amounts initially agreed or will be collected in a different period, accounts
receivable are impaired.
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Beginning January 1, 2018, loans and receivables are considered within the class of
financial assets at amortized cost (see number v in this section).
iii. Investments held to maturity
If the Company has a demonstrable intention and capacity to hold debt instruments to
maturity, they are classified as held to maturity. Assets in this category are classified
as current assets if they are expected to be settled within the following 12 months,
otherwise, they are classified as non-current assets. They are initially recognized at
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost, subsequently, they are valued
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Investments held to maturity are
recognized or written off on the day they are transferred to or through the Company.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company did not maintain these type of investments.
iv. Investments available for sale
Investments available for sale are non-derivative financial assets designated to this
category or that do not fall under any of the other categories. They are included as
non-current assets, unless their maturity is less than 12 months or management
intends to dispose of that investment within the following 12 months after the date of
the consolidated statement of financial position.
Investments available for sale are initially recognized at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, these assets are recorded at fair value
(unless they cannot be measured at their value in an active market, and the value is
not reliable, in this case, they will be recognized at cost less impairment).
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
instruments are directly recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.
When investments classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the fair value
accumulated adjustments recognized in equity are reclassified to the consolidated
statement of income.
Generally, these type of assets will be classified in a fair value measurement category
under the existing accounting policy as of January 31, 2018; However, the business
model of the financial asset will be the basis for its classification.
Classes of financial assets under IFRS 9, in effect beginning January 1, 2018.
v. Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at amortized cost are financial assets that i) are held within a
business model whose objective is to hold said assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and ii) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified
dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount
of outstanding principal.
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vi. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are financial
assets: i) held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and ii) the contractual terms of
the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the amount of outstanding principal. As of December
31, 2018, the Company does not have financial assets to be measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income.
vii. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, in addition to those described in
point i in this section, are financial assets that do not meet the characteristics to be
measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, since
i) they have a business model different to those that seek to collect contractual cash
flows, or collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets, or otherwise ii)
the generated cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on the
amount of outstanding principal.
Despite the mentioned classifications, the Company can make the following
irrevocable elections in the initial recognition of a financial asset:
a. Present the subsequent changes in the fair value of a capital investment in other
comprehensive income, as long as the investment is not held for trading purposes,
that is a contingent consideration recognized as a result of a business combination.
b. Designate a debt instrument that meets the criteria to be subsequently measured
at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive results, to be
measured at fair value through results, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting asymmetry that would arise of the measurement of assets or
liabilities or the recognition of gains and losses on them in different bases.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has not made any of the irrevocable
designations described above.
Impairment of financial instruments
Through December 31, 2017, the Company determined the existence of impaired
financial instruments by following different methods according to the type of financial
instrument to be assessed, as follows:
a. Financial assets measured at amortized cost
At the end of each year, the Company assessed whether there was objective evidence
of impairment of each financial asset or group of financial assets. An impairment loss
was recognized if there was objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”),
and provided that the loss event (or events) had an impact on the estimated future
cash flows derived from the financial asset or group of financial assets that could be
reliably estimated.
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b. Financial assets classified as available for sale
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, the impairment loss determined
by computing the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value of
the asset, less any previously recognized impairment loss was reclassified to other
comprehensive income accounts, and was recorded in the consolidated statement of
income within the financial result, net.
New impairment policy beginning adoption of IFRS 9
Beginning January 1, 2018, the Company applies a new impairment model based
on expected credit losses rather than losses incurred, applicable to financial assets
subject to such assessment (i.e. financial assets measured at amortized cost and
at fair value through other comprehensive income), as well as lease receivables,
contract assets, certain written loan commitments, and financial guarantee contracts.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated from the origin
of the asset at each reporting date, taking as a reference the historical experience of
the Company’s credit losses, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors or
groups of debtors, the general economic conditions and an evaluation of both the
current direction and the forecast of future conditions.
a. Trade receivables
The Company adopted the simplified expected loss calculation model, through which
expected credit losses during the asset’s lifetime are recognized.
The Company does an analysis of its portfolio of accounts receivable from clients,
in order to determine if there are significant clients for whom it requires an individual
evaluation; On the other hand, customers with similar characteristics that share
credit risks (participation in the portfolio of accounts receivable, market type, sector,
geographic area, etc.), are grouped to be evaluated collectively.
For the impairment assessment, the Company may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulties;
increase in the probability of debtors entering into bankruptcy or a financial
restructuring, as well as observable data indicating that there is a considerable
decrease in the estimate of the cash flows to be received, including arrears.
For purposes of the previous estimate, the Company considers that the following
constitutes an event of default, since historical experience indicates that financial
assets are not recoverable when they meet any of the following criteria:
• The debtor fails to meet the financial covenants; or
• Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Company, in its entirety (without
considering any guarantee held by the Company).
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The Company defined as the default threshold, the period from which the recovery of
the account receivable subject to analysis is marginal; in this case, 271 days of delay,
which is in line with internal risk management.
b. Other financial instruments
The Company recognizes credit losses expected during the asset’s lifetime of
all financial instruments for which credit risk has significantly increased since its
initial recognition (assessed on a collective or individual basis), considering all the
reasonable and sustainable information, including the one referring to the future. If as
of the date of presentation of the credit risk a financial instrument has not significantly
increased since its initial recognition, the Company calculates the loss allowance for
that financial instrument as the amount of expected credit losses in the following 12
months.
In both cases, the Company recognizes in profit or loss of the period the decrease
or increase in the expected credit loss allowance at the end of the period, as an
impairment gain or loss.
The Company calculates expected credit losses of a financial instrument in such a
way that reflects:
a. an amount of weighted probability, not biased, which is determined by the
assessment of a range of possible results;
b. the time value of money; and
c. the reasonable and sustainable information that is available without cost or
disproportionate effort at the date of presentation on past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
In measuring the expected credit losses, the Company does not necessarily identify
all the possible scenarios. However, it considers the risk or probability that a credit
loss occurs, reflecting the possibility that the payment default occurs and does not
occur, even if that possibility is very low. In addition, the Company determines the
period for the default to occur, and the recoverability rate after default.
Management assesses the impairment model and the inputs used therein at least
once every 3 months, in order to ensure that they remain in effect based on the
current situation of the portfolio.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities that are not derivatives are initially recognized at fair value and
subsequently are valued at the amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Liabilities in this category are classified as current liabilities when they must be settled
within the next 12 months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current liabilities.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

43

NEMAK, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (SUBSIDIARY OF ALFA, S. A. B. DE C. V.)

Accounts payable are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been
acquired or received by suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Loans are
initially recognized at their fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. The loans are
subsequently recognized at amortized cost; any difference between the resources
received (net of transaction costs) and the settlement value is recognized in the
consolidated statement of income over the term of loan using the effective interest
method.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recorded in the
consolidated statement of income. The change in fair value hedges and the change in
the primary position attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in the consolidated
statement of income in the same line item as the hedged position. As of December
31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has no derivative financial instruments classified as
fair value hedges.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Company derecognizes financial liabilities if, and only, the Company´s liabilities
are met, cancelled or expired. The difference between the book value of the financial
liabilities derecognized and the consideration, is recognized in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges
The changes in the fair value of derivative instruments associated to cash flow hedges
are recorded in stockholders’ equity. The effective portion is temporarily recorded
in comprehensive income, within stockholders’ equity and is reclassified to profit or
loss when the hedged position affects these. The ineffective portion is immediately
recorded in income.

Additionally, when the Company incurs a refinancing transaction and the previous
liability qualifies to be derecognized, the incurred costs of refinancing are recognized
immediately in the consolidated income statements at the extinction date of the past
financial liability.
Compensation of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the right to offset the amounts
recognized is legally enforceable and there is an intention to settle them on a net basis
or to realize the asset and pay the liability simultaneously.
G. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
All derivative financial instruments are identified and classified as fair value hedging
hedges or cash flow hedges, for trading or the hedging of market risks and are
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position as assets and/or
liabilities at fair value and similarly measured subsequently at fair value. The fair value
is determined based on recognized market prices and its fair value is determined
using valuation techniques accepted in the financial sector.
The fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current asset or liability if
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current
asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.
Derivative financial instruments classified as hedges are contracted for risk hedging
purposes and meet all hedging requirements; their designation at the beginning of
the hedging operation is documented, describing the objective, primary position,
risks to be hedged and the effectiveness of the hedging relationship, characteristics,
accounting recognition and how the effectiveness is to be measured, applicable to
this transaction.
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Net investment hedge in a foreign transaction
Beginning March 1, 2018, the Company applies hedge accounting to currency
risk arising from its investments in foreign transactions for variations in exchange
rates arising between the functional currency of such transaction and the functional
currency of the holding entity, regardless of whether the investment is maintained
directly or through a sub-holding entity. Variation in exchange rates is recognized in
the other items of comprehensive income as part of the translation effect, when the
foreign transaction is consolidated.
To this end, the Company designates the debt denominated in a foreign currency as
a hedging instrument; therefore, the exchange rate effects caused by the debt are
recognized in other components of comprehensive income, on the translation effects
line item, to the extent that the hedge is effective. When the hedge is not effective,
exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss.
Suspension of hedge accounting
The Company suspends hedge accounting when the derivative financial instrument
or the non-derivative financial instrument has expired, is cancelled or exercised, when
the derivative or non-derivative financial instrument is not highly effective to offset
the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item, or when the Company
decides to cancel the hedge designation.
On suspending hedge accounting, in the case of fair value hedges, the adjustment to
the carrying amount of a hedged amount for which the effective interest rate method
is used, is amortized to income over the period to maturity. In the case of cash flow
hedges, the amounts accumulated in equity as a part of comprehensive income
remain in equity until the time when the effects of the forecasted transaction affect
income. In the event the forecasted transaction is not likely to occur, the income
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or loss accumulated in comprehensive income are immediately recognized in the
consolidated statement of income. When the hedge of a forecasted transaction
appears satisfactory and subsequently does not meet the effectiveness test, the
cumulative effects in comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity are transferred
proportionally to the to the consolidated statement of income, to the extent the
forecasted transaction impacts it.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments reflected in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company, is a mathematical approximation of their fair value. It is
computed using proprietary models of independent third parties using assumptions
based on past and present market conditions and future expectations at the closing
date.
H. INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined
using the average cost method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress
includes cost of product design, raw materials, direct labor, other direct costs and
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing
costs. The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the normal course of
business, less the applicable variable selling expenses. Costs of inventories include
any gain or loss transferred from other comprehensive income corresponding to raw
material purchases that qualify as cash flow hedges.
I. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less the accumulated
depreciation and any accrued impairment losses. The costs include expenses directly
attributable to the asset acquisition.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flows to the Company and the cost of the item can be
reliably measured. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. Repairs
and maintenance are recognized in the consolidated statement of income during the
year they are incurred. Major improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful
life of the related asset.
When the Company carries out major repairs or maintenance of its property, plant and
equipment assets, and the cost is recognized in the book value of the corresponding
asset as a replacement, provided that the recognition criteria are met. The remaining
portion of any major repair or maintenance is derecognized. The Company
subsequently depreciates the recognized cost in the useful life assigned to it, based
on its best estimate of useful life
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, considering separately each
of the asset’s components, except for land, which is not subject to depreciation. The
estimated useful lives of assets classes are as follows:
BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTIONS

33 TO 50 YEARS

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

10 TO 14 YEARS

VEHICLES

4 TO 8 YEARS

LAB AND IT FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

6 TO 10 YEARS

OTHER ASSETS

10 TO 20 YEARS

The spare parts to be used after one year and attributable to specific machinery are
classified as property, plant and equipment in other fixed assets.
Borrowing costs related to financing of property, plant and equipment whose
acquisition or construction requires a substantial period (nine months or more), are
capitalized as part of the cost of acquiring such qualifying assets, up to the moment
when they are suitable for their intended use or sale.
Assets classified as property, plant and equipment are subject to impairment tests
when events or circumstances occur indicating that the carrying amount of the
assets may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income in other expenses, net, for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
The residual value and useful lives of assets are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.
During 2018, the Company reviewed the useful lives of its property, plant and
equipment, and determined changes in its estimated useful lives as these assets
will generate future economic benefits for periods greater than previously estimated.
These changes in the estimated useful life were recognized prospectively at the
beginning of 2018 and represented a decrease in depreciation expense of $768
recognized in the year.
Gains and losses on disposal of assets are determined by comparing the sale
value with the carrying amount and are recognized in other expenses, net, in the
consolidated statements of income.
J. LEASES
The classification of leases as finance or operating depends on the substance of the
transaction rather than the form of the contract.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

45

NEMAK, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (SUBSIDIARY OF ALFA, S. A. B. DE C. V.)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards relating to the leased
property are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of incentives received by the lessor) are recognized in the
consolidated income statement of income based on the straight-line method over the
lease period.
Leases where the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the
beginning of the lease, at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. If its determination is practical, in order
to discount the minimum lease payments to present value, the interest rate implicit in
the lease is used; otherwise, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee should be
used. Any initial direct costs of the leases are added to the original amount recognized
as an asset.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges to achieve
a constant rate on the outstanding balance. The corresponding rental obligations
are included in non-current debt, net of finance charges. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income for the year during the period of the lease, so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
As of January 1, 2019, as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, the Company´s
accounting policy for the treatment of leases as a lessee, has been modified
according with what it is detailed in note 3x.
K. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position
when they meet the following conditions: they are identifiable, provide future
economic benefits and the Company has control over such benefits.
Intangible assets are classified as follows:
(i) Indefinite useful life
These intangible assets are not amortized and are subject to annual impairment
assessment. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no factors have been identified
limiting the life of these intangible assets.
(ii) Finite useful life
These assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment
losses recognized. They are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated
useful life, determined based on the expectation of generating future economic
benefits, and are subject to impairment tests when triggering events of impairment are
identified.
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The estimated useful lives of intangible assets with finite useful lives are summarized
as follows:
DEVELOPMENT COSTS

5 TO 20 YEARS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

5 TO 17 YEARS

SOFTWARE AND LICENSES

3 TO 11 YEARS

TRADEMARKS AND PATENTS

15 TO 20 YEARS

a. Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost of a subsidiary over the
Company’s equity in the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, determined
at the date of acquisition, and is not subject to amortization. Goodwill is shown under
goodwill and intangible assets and is recognized at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, which are not reversed. Gains or losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
b. Development costs
Research costs are recognized in income as incurred. Expenditures on development
activities are recognized as intangible assets when such costs can be reliably
measured, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
potential future economic benefits are obtained and the Company intends also has
sufficient resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset. Their
amortization is recognized in income by the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the asset. Development expenditures that do not qualify for capitalization
are recognized in income as incurred.
c. Other relationships with customers
The Company has recognized certain relationships with customers corresponding to
the costs incurred to obtain new agreements with certain OEMs (Original Equipment
Manufacturers), and which will be recognized as a revenue reduction over the term
of these agreements. The amortization method used is based on the volume of units
produced. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded a reduction
to revenue associated with the amortization of these assets of $120 and $72 for this
item, respectively.
L. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not depreciable
or amortizable and are subject to annual impairment tests. Assets that are subject to
amortization are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value
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less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels at which separately identifiable cash flows
exist (cash generating units). Non-financial long-term assets other than goodwill that
have suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.
M. INCOME TAX
The amount of income taxes in the consolidated statement of income represents the
sum of the current and deferred income taxes.
The amount of income taxes included in the consolidated statement of income
represents the current tax and the effects of deferred income tax assets determined
in each subsidiary by the asset and liability method, applying the rate established
by the legislation enacted or substantially enacted at the consolidated statement
of financial position date, wherever the Company operates and generates taxable
income. The applicable rates are applied to the total temporary differences resulting
from comparing the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and that
are expected to be applied when the deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred
tax liability is expected to be settled, considering, when applicable, any tax-loss
carryforwards, prior to the recovery analysis. The effect of the change in current
tax rates is recognized in current income of the period in which the rate change is
determined.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which the applicable law is subject to interpretation. Provisions are
recognized when appropriate based on the amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is probable that future taxable profits
will exist against which the deductions for temporary differences can be taken.
The deferred income tax on temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates is recognized, unless the period of reversal of temporary
differences is controlled by Nemak and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the near future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset just when a legal right exists and offset
exists when the taxes are levied by the same tax authority.
N. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
i. Pension plans
Defined contribution plans:
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to their service in the current and past periods.
The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense on the date that is
required the contribution.
NEMAK

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a plan which specifies the amount of the pension an
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such
as age, years of service and compensation.
The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect
of defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
consolidated statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using discount rates in
conformity with the IAS 19 – Employee Benefits, that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and have maturities that approximate the terms of
the pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses from adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognized directly in other comprehensive income in the year they occur.
The Company determines the net finance expense (income) by applying the discount
rate to the liabilities (assets) from net defined benefits.
Past-service costs are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
income.
ii. Post-employment medical benefits
The Company provides medical benefits to retired employees after termination of
employment. The right to access these benefits usually depends on the employee´s
having worked until retirement age and completing a minimum of years of service. The
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using
the same criteria as those described for defined benefit pension plans.
iii. Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company
before the normal retirement date or when an employee accepts voluntary termination
of employment in exchange for these benefits. The Company recognizes termination
benefits in the first of the following dates: (a) when the Company can no longer
withdraw the offer of these benefits, and (b) when the Company recognizes the
costs from restructuring within the scope of the IAS 37 and it involves the payment
of termination benefits. If there is an offer that promotes the termination of the
employment relationship voluntarily by employees, termination benefits are valued
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. The benefits that will
be paid in the long term are discounted at their present value.
iv. Short-term benefits
The Company provides benefits to employees in the short term, which may include
wages, salaries, annual compensation and bonuses payable within 12 months. Nemak
recognizes an undiscounted provision when it is contractually obligated or when past
practice has created an obligation.
2018 ANNUAL REPORT

47

NEMAK, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES (SUBSIDIARY OF ALFA, S. A. B. DE C. V.)

v. Employee participation in profit and bonuses
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and employee
participation in profits when it has a legal or assumed obligation to pay these benefits
and determines the amount to be recognized based on the profit for the year after
certain adjustments.
O. PROVISIONS
Liability provisions represent a present legal obligation or a constructive obligation as
a result of past events where an outflow of resources to meet the obligation is likely
and where the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for
future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the value of money over time and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest
expense.
When there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions for legal claims are recognized when the Company has a present obligation
(legal or assumed) as a result of past events, it is likely that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reasonably
estimated.
A restructuring provision is recorded when the Company has developed a formal
detailed plan for the restructure, and a valid expectation for the restructure has
been created between the people affected, possibly for having started the plan
implementation or for having announced its main characteristics to them.
P. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company has compensation plans based on the market value of its shares in
favor of certain senior executives. The conditions for granting such compensation to
the eligible executives includes compliance with certain financial metrics such as the
level of profit achieved and remaining in the Company for up to 5 years, among other
requirements. The Board of Directors has appointed a technical committee to manage
the plan, and it reviews the estimated cash settlement of this compensation at the
end of the year. The payment plan is always subject to the discretion of the senior
management of Nemak. Adjustments to this estimate are charged or credited to the
consolidated statement of income.
The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share-based
payments which are settled in cash is recognized as an expense, with a
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corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period of service required. The
liability is included within other liabilities and is adjusted at each reporting date and
the settlement date. Any change in the fair value of the liability is recognized as
compensation expense in the consolidated statement of income.
Q. TREASURY SHARES
The Company’s stockholders periodically authorize a maximum amount for the
acquisition of the Company’s own shares. Upon the occurrence of a repurchase of its
own shares, they become treasury shares and the amount is presented as a reduction
to stockholders’ equity at the purchase price. These amounts are stated at their
historical value.
R. CAPITAL STOCK
Nemak common shares are classified as capital stock within stockholders’ equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are included in
equity as a reduction from the consideration received, net of tax.
S. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Comprehensive income is composed of net income plus the annual effects of their
capital reserves, net of taxes, which are comprised of the translation of foreign
subsidiaries, the effects of derivative cash flow hedges, actuarial gains or losses, net
investment hedges, the effects of the change in the fair value of financial instruments
available for sale, the equity in other items of comprehensive income of associates,
and other items specifically required to be reflected in stockholders’ equity, and which
do not constitute capital contributions, reductions and distributions.
T. SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment information is presented consistently with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision maker who is the highest authority in operational
decision-making, resource allocation and assessment of operating segment
performance.
U. REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenues comprise the fair value of the consideration received or to receive for
the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of the transactions, and are
presented in the consolidated statement of income, net of the amount of variable
considerations, which comprise the estimated amount of returns from customers,
rebates and similar discounts and payments made to customers with the objective
that goods are accommodated in attractive and favorable spaces at their facilities.
To recognize revenues from contracts with customers, the comprehensive model for
revenue accounting is applied, which is based on a five-step approach consisting
of the following: (1) identify the contract; (2) identify performance obligations in the
contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when the company
satisfies a performance obligation.
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Contracts with customers are given by commercial agreements with the OEM and
complemented by purchase orders, whose costs comprise the promises to produce,
distribute and deliver goods based on the contractual terms and conditions set forth,
which do not imply a significant judgment to be determined. When there are payments
related to obtaining new contracts, they are capitalized and amortized over the term
of the contract obtained.
The Company evaluates whether the agreements signed for the development of
tooling, in parallel with a production contract with the OEMs, should be combined
as a single contract. In cases where the two contracts meet the characteristics to
be combined, the Company´s management evaluates whether the development of
tooling represents a performance obligation, or a cost of fulfillment of the contract.
Based on the above, when determining the existence of separable performance
obligations in a contract with customers, the management evaluates the transfer of
control of the good or service to the customer, with the objective of determining the
moment of revenue recognition related to each performance obligation.
Moreover, the payment terms identified in the majority of the sources of revenue are
in the short-term, with variable considerations primarily focused on discounts and
rebates of goods given to customers, without financing components or significant
guarantees. These discounts and incentives to customers are recognized as a
reduction to income or as sale expenses, according to their nature. Therefore, the
allocation of the price is directly on the performance obligations of production,
distribution and delivery, including the effects of variable considerations.
The Company recognizes revenue at a point in time, when control of sold goods
has been transferred to the customer, which is given upon delivery and acceptance
of the goods promised to the customer according to the negotiated incoterm. An
account receivable is recognized when the performance obligations have been met,
recognizing the corresponding revenue.
The Company’s management adopted the IFRS 15 –Revenue from contracts with
customers using the modified retrospective approach applied to contracts in effect
at the date of initial adoption on January 1, 2018, therefore, this accounting policy
applied to that date is not comparable to that used for the revenue recognition for the
year ended December 31, 2017. This accounting policy was based on the transfer of
risks and benefits of the products to the customer.
V. ADVANCED PAYMENTS
Advanced payments mainly comprise insurance and the corporate fee paid to
suppliers. These amounts are registered based on the contractual value and are
carried to the consolidated statement of income on a monthly basis during the life
to which each advanced payment corresponds: the amount that corresponds to the
portion to be recognized within the next 12 months is presented in current assets and
the remaining amount is presented in non-current assets.
NEMAK

W. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the
stockholders of the parent by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there are no dilutive
effects from financial instruments potentially convertible into shares.
X. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
i. New standards and changes adopted by the Company.
The Company adopted all new standards and interpretations in effect as of January
1, 2018, including the annual improvements to IFRS; however, they had no significant
effects on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 9, Financial instruments
IFRS 9, Financial instruments, replaces IAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition and
measurement. This standard is mandatorily effective for periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018 and introduces a new expected loss impairment model and limited
changes to the classification and measurement requirements for financial assets.
More specifically, the new impairment model is based on expected credit losses
rather than incurred losses, and will apply to debt instruments measured at amortized
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), lease receivables,
contract assets and certain written loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts.
In regards of the expected loss impairment model, the initial adoption requirement
of IFRS 9 is retrospective and establishes as an option to adopt it without modifying
the financial statements of previous years by recognizing the initial effect on retained
earnings at the date of adoption. In case of hedge accounting, IFRS 9 allows
application with a prospective approach.
The Company had no impacts associated with the new measurement category of fair
value through other comprehensive income, because it currently does not have any
instrument that qualifies for this treatment; however, potential impacts could arise if
its investment strategy was changed in the future. In addition, there were no impacts
related to hedge accounting.
Finally, in regards to the new model for impairment based on expected losses,
Management of the Company decided to adopt the standard retrospectively,
recognizing the effects on retained earnings as of January 1, 2018. On this date,
derived from the new requirements, the Company recognized an adjustment of
$244, net of deferred taxes, for increasing the allowance for impairment of accounts
receivable. In addition, the number of disclosures increased in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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IFRS 15, Revenues from contracts with customers
IFRS 15, Revenues from contracts with customers, is effective for periods beginning
January 1, 2018. Under this standard, revenue recognition is based on the transfer
of control, i.e. notion of control is used to determine when a good or service is
transferred to the customer. The standard also presents a single comprehensive
model for the accounting for revenues from contracts with customers, which
introduces a five-step approach for revenue recognition: (1) identifying the contract;
(2) identifying the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determining the
transaction price; (4) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations in
the contract; and (5) recognizing revenue when the Company satisfies a performance
obligation.
The Company’s management adopted this standard using the modified retrospective
approach applied to contracts in effect at the date of initial adoption on January 1,
2018. On this date, derived from the new requirements, the Company recognized
a liability corresponding to the right granted to its customers for the replacement
of goods; such impact was recognized against retained earnings in the amount of
$1,110, net of deferred taxes.
In addition, the amount of disclosures required in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company was increased, specifically in relation to the time of
compliance with the identified performance obligation, the significant payment terms,
the method for determining the price, including variable significant consideration and
the method used to recognize income.
IFRIC 22, Interpretation on foreign currency transactions and advance
consideration
This new Interpretation clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the
receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The interpretation
is being issued to reduce diversity in practice related to the exchange rate used
when an entity reports transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency in
accordance with IAS 21 in circumstances in which consideration is received or paid
before the related asset, expense, or income is recognized. Effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018.
The Company translates advance considerations at the exchange rate on the date of
the transaction, either received or paid, and recognizes them as non-monetary items;
therefore, it did not have significant impacts in the adoption of this interpretation in its
consolidated financial statements.
ii. New standards and interpretations yet to be adopted by the Company
A series of new standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued, which
are not yet effective for reporting periods ended December 31, 2018, and have not
been early adopted by the Company.
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Below is a summary of these new standards and interpretations as well as the
Company’s assessment as to the potential impacts on the consolidated financial
statements:
IFRS 16, Leases
IFRS 16, Leases, replaces IAS 17, Leases, and its related interpretations. This new
standard brings most leases on the statement of financial position for lessees under
a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases,
while the model for lessors remains without significant changes. IFRS 16 is effective
beginning January 1, 2019, and the Company decided to adopt it recognizing all its
effects as of that date, without modifying prior years.
Under this standard, lessees will recognize a right-of-use asset and the corresponding
lease liability. The right of use will be depreciated based on the contractual term or,
in some cases, on its economic useful life. On the other hand, the financial liability
will be measured at initial recognition, discounting future minimum lease payments at
present value according to a term, using the discount rate that represents the lease
funding cost; subsequently, the liability will accrue interest until maturity.
The Company will apply the exemptions to not recognize an asset and a liability as
described above, for lease agreements with a term of less than 12 months (provided
that they do not contain purchase or term renewal options) and for those agreements
where the acquisition of an individual asset of the contract would be less than
US$5,000 (five thousand dollars). Therefore, payments for such leases will continue to
be recognized as expenses within operating income.
The Company adopted IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019; therefore, it recognized a rightof-use asset and a lease liability of $935.
In addition, the Company adopted and applied the following practical expedients
provided by IFRS 16:
• Account for as leases the payments made in conjunction with the rent, and that
represent services (for example, maintenance and insurance).
• Create portfolios of contracts that are similar in terms, economic environment and
characteristics of assets, and use of a funding rate by portfolio to measure leases.
• For leases classified as finance leases as of December 31, 2018, and without
elements of minimum payments updated for inflation, maintain the balance of the
right-of-use asset, and its corresponding lease liability on the date of adoption of
IFRS 16.
• Not to revisit the previously reached conclusions for service agreements which were
analyzed to December 31, 2018 under IFRIC 4, Determining Whether a Contract
Contains a Lease, and where it had been concluded that there was no implicit lease.
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The Company has taken the required measures to implement the changes that the
standard represents in terms of internal control, tax and systems affairs, starting on
the adoption date.
Finally, as a result of these changes in accounting, some performance indicators
of the Company, such as operating income and adjusted EBITDA, will be affected
because what was previously recognized as an operating rental expense equivalent
to rental payments, will now be recognized as a portion reducing the financial
liability (which will not affect the statement of income); and the other portion will be
recognized as a financial expense under the operating income indicator. On the other
hand, the depreciation expense of right-of-use assets will affect operating income on
a linear basis, but without representing a cash outflow, which will benefit the adjusted
EBITDA.
IFRIC 23, Interpretation on uncertainty over income tax treatments
This new Interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement
requirements in IAS 12 Income taxes, when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments. Uncertain tax treatments is a tax treatment for which there is uncertainty
over whether the relevant taxation authority will accept the tax treatment under tax
law. In such a circumstance, an entity shall recognize and measure its current or
deferred tax asset or liability by applying the requirements in IAS 12 based on taxable
profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates
determined applying this Interpretation.
An entity shall apply IFRIC 23 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted and the fact must be disclosed.
On initial application, the Interpretation must be applied retrospectively under the
requirements of IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, modifying comparative periods or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initially applying the Interpretation as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings, without modifying comparative periods.
The Company has determined that the impact in its consolidated financial statements
from the adoption of this interpretation are not material considering that the prevailing
conditions at the date of adoption and the faculties of the competent authorities to
assess tax positions held by the Company at the same date.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s activities expose it to various financial risks; market risk (including
exchange rate risk, aluminum, price risk, and interest rate variation risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk.
The Company has a general risk management program focused on the
unpredictability of financial markets, and seeks to minimize the potential adverse
effects on its financial performance. The objective of the risk management program
is to protect the financial health of its business, taking into account the volatility
associated with prices, foreign exchange and interest rates. The Company uses
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures to risks, including hedges
of input prices.
ALFA has a Risk Management Committee (RMC), comprised of the Board’s
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and a
Risk Management Officer (“RMO”) acting as technical secretary. The RMC reviews
derivative transactions proposed by the subsidiaries of ALFA, including Nemak, in
which a potential loss analysis surpasses US$1. This Committee supports both the
CEO and the Board’s President of ALFA. All new derivative transactions which the
Company proposes to enter into, as well as the renewal or cancellation of derivative
arrangements, must be approved by both Nemak’s and ALFA’s CEO, as well as by
ALFA according to the following schedule of authorizations
MAXIMUM POSSIBLE LOSS US$
INDIVIDUAL
TRANSACTION

ANNUAL CUMULATIVE
TRANSACTIONS

1

5

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE OF ALFA

30

100

FINANCE COMMITTEE

100

300

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ALFA

>100

>300

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF NEMAK

The proposed transactions must meet certain criteria, including that the hedges are
lower than established risk parameters, and that they are the result of a detailed
analysis and properly documented. Sensitivity analysis and other risk analyses should
be performed before the operation is entered into.
The Company´s risk management policy indicates that the hedging positions should
always be lower that the projected exposure to allow for an acceptable margin of
uncertainty. Being unhedged operations expressly forbidden. The Company’s risk
management policy indicates the maximum percentages must be hedged with
respect to the projected exposure:
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MAXIMUM COVERAGE
(AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE PROJECTED EXPOSURE)
CURRENT YEAR
COMMODITIES

100

ENERGY COSTS

75

EXCHANGE RATE FOR OPERATING TRANSACTIONS

80

EXCHANGE RATE FOR FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS

100

INTEREST RATES

100

The carrying amount and estimated fair value of assets and liabilities valued at
amortized cost is presented below:
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to
stockholders and benefits to other stakeholders, as well as maintaining an optimal
capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

Nemak monitors capital based on a leverage ratio. This percentage is calculated by
dividing total liabilities by total equity.
The financial ratio of total liabilities/total equity was 1.58 and 1.52 as of December
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, resulting in a leverage ratio that complies with the
Company’s management and risk policies.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Below are the Company’s financial instruments by category:
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, financial assets and liabilities consist of the following:
AS OF DECEMBER 31,

RESTRICTED CASH

2018

2017

$ 3,555

$ 3,757

1,296

889

9,325

9,592

$14,176

$14,238

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST:
TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST:
DEBT
TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

NEMAK

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

CARRYING
AMOUNT

FAIR VALUE

CARRYING
AMOUNT

FAIR VALUE

$ 706

$ 661

$ 688

$ 624

27,413

26,189

27,928

29,097

FINANCIAL ASSETS:

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to stockholders, return equity to stockholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT
AMORTIZED COST
The amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, customers and other
accounts receivable, other current assets, trade and other accounts payable, current
debt, other current liabilities approximate their fair value, because their maturity date
is less than twelve months. The net carrying amount of these accounts represents the
expected cash flows to be received as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

$29,158

$29,399

21,711

22,949

$50,869

$52,348

NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
DEBT

Estimated fair values as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, were determined based on
a discounted cash flow basis. Measurement at fair value of non-current accounts is
considered within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, whereas, for the financial debt, the
measurement at fair value is considered within levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy.
MARKET RISKS
(i) Exchange rate risk
The Company operates internationally, and is exposed to foreign exchange risk,
primarily derived from the transactions and balances that the subsidiaries conduct
and have in foreign currency, respectively. A foreign currency is that which is different
from the functional currency of an entity. In addition, the Company is exposed to
changes in the value of financial instruments arising from foreign exchange variations.
The respective exchange rates of the Mexican peso, the U.S. dollar and the euro
are very important factors for the Company due to the effect they have on its
consolidated results. Nemak estimates that approximately 55% of its sales are U.S
dollars denominated and 36% in Euros, since the price of its products is set based on
such currencies.
Nemak’s main currency risk associated with its financial instruments arises from its
financial debt in foreign currencies, primarily the Euro, which is held in U.S. dollar
functional currency entities.
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The sensitivity analysis corresponding to the effects the Company would have on
net income and equity for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of an
appreciation or depreciation of the dollar against the euro by +/- 10%. These effects
have been converted to pesos at the closing exchange rate of $22.5054 as follows:
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2018, Nemak maintains the following hedging relationships:

HOLDING

IN MILLIONS OF MEXICAN PESOS

A) APPRECIATION OF THE DOLLAR AGAINST THE EURO

2,601

B) DEPRECIATION OF THE DOLLAR AGAINST THE EURO

(2,601)

NEMAK, S. A. B.
DE C. V.

FUNCTIONAL
CURRENCY

HEDGING
INSTRUMENT

NOTIONAL
VALUE
(EUROS)

USD

SENIOR NOTES

€

BANK LOANS

206
4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TO HEDGE NET INVESTMENTS IN FOREIGN
TRANSACTIONS
Beginning March 1, 2018, the Company designated certain non-current debt
instruments as hedges to net investments in foreign transactions in order to mitigate
the variations in exchange rates arising between the functional currency for such
transactions and the functional currency of the holding or sub-holding company that
maintains these investments.
The Company formally designated and documented each hedging relationship
establishing objectives, management’s strategy to cover the risk, the identification
of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk to be hedged, and
the methodology to assess the effectiveness. Given that the exchange rate hedging
relationship is clear, the method that the Company used to assess the effectiveness
consisted of a qualitative effectiveness test by comparing the critical terms between
the hedging instruments and the hedged items. The hedging effectiveness results
confirm that the hedging relationships are highly effective due to the economic
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged items. For its part, when
the value of the net assets of the foreign transaction is less than the notional value of
the designated debt, the company performs a rebalancing of the hedging relationship
and recognizes ineffectiveness in the statement of results.

€

210

NET ASSETS OF
THE HEDGED
ITEM
(EUROS)

COVERED ITEM

NEMAK DILLINGEN GMBH

€

121

NEMAK LINZ GMBH

29

NEMAK GYOR KFT.

110

NEMAK SLOVAKIA, S.R.O.

71

NEMAK WERNIGERODE
GMBH

67

NEMAK CZECH REPUBLIC,
S.R.O.

54

NEMAK POLAND SP.Z.O.O.

41

NEMAK SPAIN, S.L.

39

NEMAK PILSTING GMBH

9

NEMAK IZMIR DOKUM
SANAYI A.S.

35
€

576

The average coverage ratio of the company amounted to 30.8%, causing the
exchange rate fluctuation generated by the hedging instruments from the date of
designation until December 31, 2018 to amount to a net profit of $304 which was
recognized in The other items of integral utility, compensating the effect by conversion
generated by each foreign investment. The results of coverage effectiveness confirm
that hedging relationships are highly effective due to the economic relationship
between hedging instruments and covered items.
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Effectiveness of derivative financial instruments designated as hedges for accounting
purposes is measured periodically.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company did maintain derivative financial
instruments designated as hedge accounting. However, for the year ended December
31, 2018, the Company did not have derivative financial instruments as hedges.
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(ii) Price risk commodities
a. Aluminum
Nemak utilizes significant amounts of aluminum in the form of scrap, as well as
ingots as its main raw material. In order to mitigate the risks related to the volatility
of the prices of this commodity, the Company has entered into agreements with its
customers, whereby the variations of aluminum prices are transferred to the sales
price of the products through a pre-established formula.
However, there is a residual risk since each OEM uses its own formula to estimate
aluminum prices, which normally reflects market prices based on an average term
that may range from one to three months. As a result, the basis used by each OEM to
calculate the prices of aluminum alloys may differ from the ones used by the Entity to
buy aluminum, which could negatively impact its business, financial position and the
results of its operations.
b. Natural gas
Nemak is an entity that uses natural gas to carry out its operating processes and
develop its products. This consumption has grown as the volume of their end
products increase, which causes that an increase in the price of natural gas creates
negative effects on the operating cash flows. In order to mitigate its exposure to the
price of this material, the Entity conducts, some natural gas hedging transactions
using derivative instruments. Therefore, according to its risk management program,
the Company enters into hedges against the exposure to the increase in natural gas
prices, for future purchases by entering into swaps where variable prices are received
and a fixed price is paid. A strategy called roll-over has been implemented, through
which it is analyzed each month if more derivatives should be contracted to expand
the time or the amount of hedging. Currently, a portion of Company’s consumption is
hedged until April 2018. As of December 31, 2018, the Company does not keep open
positions of this type of derivative financial instruments.

These derivative instruments have been classified as cash flow hedges for accounting
purposes. Effectiveness of derivative financial instruments designated as hedges is
measured periodically:
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
VALUE OF THE
UNDERLYING ASSET
TYPE OF
DERIVATIVE, NOTIONAL
VALUE OR
AMOUN
CONTRACT
NATURAL
GAS

6

EXPIRATION
BY YEAR

UNITS

REFERENCE

FAIR
VALUE

2018

2019

2020+

COLLATERAL

DOLLAR /
MBTU 1

2.74

$ (0.46)

$(0.46)

$-

$-

$-

(1) Dollar per Mega British Thermal Unit

INTEREST RATE RISK
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk mainly for long-term loans bearing
interest at variable rates. Fixed-interest loans expose the Company to interest rate risk
at fair value, which implies that Nemak might be paying interest at rates significantly
different from those of an observable market.
As of December 31, 2018, if interest rates on variable rate are increased or decreased
by 100 basis points in relation to the rate in effect, the income and stockholders’
equity of the Company would change by $81.
CREDIT RISK
The credit risk represents the potential loss due to non- compliance of counterparts
in their payment obligations. Credit risk is generated by cash and cash equivalents,
derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions,
as well as credit exposure to customers, including receivables and committed
transactions.
The Company is managed on a group basis and credit risk profile, the significant
clients with whom it maintains a receivable, distinguishing those that require an
individual credit risk assessment. For the rest of the clients, the company carries out
its classification according to the type of market in which they operate, according
with the business management and the internal risk management. Each subsidiary
is responsible for managing and analyzing credit risk for each of its new customers
before setting the terms and conditions of payment. If wholesale customers are
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qualified independently, these are the qualifications used. If there is no independent
qualification, the company´s risk control assesses the customer´s credit quality,
taking into account its financial position, previous experience and other factors. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is given by the balances of these items as presented
in the consolidated state of financial position.
Individual risk limits are determined based on internal and external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the Board of Directors. The use of credit risks is
monitored regularly. Sales to retail customers are in cash or credit cards. During 2018
and 2017, credit limits were not exceeded and management does not expect losses in
excess of the impairment recognized in the corresponding periods.
In addition, the Company performs a qualitative evaluation of economic projections,
with the purpose of determining the possible impact on probabilities of default and
the rate of recovery that it assigns to its clients.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, there have been no changes in the
techniques of estimation or assumption.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Projected cash flows are determined at each operating subsidiary of the Company
and subsequently the finance department consolidates this information. The finance
department of the Company continuously monitors the cash flow projections and
liquidity requirements of the Company ensuring that sufficient cash and highly liquid
investments are maintained to meet operating needs, and it’s that some flexibility is
maintained open and committed credit lines.
The Company regularly monitors and makes decisions ensuring that the limits or
covenants set forth in debt contracts are not violated. The projections consider
the financing plans of the Company, compliance with covenants, compliance with
minimum liquidity ratios and internal legal or regulatory requirements.
The Company’s treasury department invests those funds in time deposits, with high
credit quality whose maturities or liquidity allow flexibility to meet the cash flow needs
of the Company.

LESS THAN A YEAR

FROM 1 TO 5 YEARS

MORE THAN 5YEARS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018
TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS
PAYABLE
DEBT (EXCLUDING DEBT ISSUANCE
COSTS)

$ 21,261

$

-

$

-

919

3,733

1,262

-

11,253

9,841

NOTES PAYABLE

126

-

-

FINANCE LEASES

42

502

161

SENIOR NOTES

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
TRADE AND OTHER
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
DEBT (EXCLUDING DEBT
ISSUANCE COSTS)

$ 23,698

$

-

$

-

1,175

2,559

3,262

-

-

21,715

NOTES PAYABLE

415

-

-

FINANCE LEASES

58

422

278

SENIOR NOTES

The Company expects to meet its obligations with cash flows generated by
operations. Additionally, Nemak has access to credit lines with various banks to meet
possible requirements.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has uncommitted short term credit
lines unused for more than US$$741 ($14,591) and US$850 ($16,775), respectively.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, Nemak has committed medium-term
credit lines of US$406 ($7,990) and US$360 ($7,105) respectively.

The following table analyzes the non-derivative financial instruments, grouped
according to their maturity, from the date of the consolidated statement of financial
position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The following is an analysis of financial instruments measured in accordance with the
fair value hierarchy. The 3 different levels of the fair value hierarchy are presented below:
Level 1: Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2: Other valuations including quoted prices for similar instruments in active
markets, which are directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3: Valuations made through technics where one or more of their significant data
inputs are unobservable.
The Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of December
31, 2018 and 2017, are classified within the level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

• The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of estimated
future cash flows based on observable yield curves.

A. ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL
The Company conducts annual tests to determine whether goodwill and intangibles
assets with indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment (Note 11). For
impairment testing, goodwill and intangibles assets with indefinite lives are allocated
with those cash generating units (“CGUs”) of which the Company has considered
that economic and operational synergies of the business combinations are generated.
The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs were determined based on the
calculations of their value in use, which require the use of estimates, within which, the
most significant are the following:

• The fair value of forward exchange agreements is determined using exchange rates
at the closing balance date, with the resulting value discounted at present value.

• Future gross and operating margins according to the historical performance and
expectations of the industry for each CGU group.

• Other techniques such as the analysis of discounted cash flows, which are used to
determine fair value of the remaining financial instruments.

• Discount rate based on the weighted cost of capital (WACC) of each CGU or CGU
group.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 or between Level 2 and 3 during the
period.
The specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
• Market quotations or trader quotations for similar instruments.

• Long-term growth rates.
B. RECOVERABILITY OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The Company has tax losses to be utilized, derived mainly from significant foreign
exchange losses, which may be used in the subsequent years (Note 23). Based on
income and tax revenue projections Nemak will generate in subsequent years through
a structured and robust business plan, which includes the sale of non-strategic
assets, new services to be provided to its subsidiaries, among others, the Company’s
management has considered that its tax loss carryforwards will be used before they
expire and therefore it has been deemed appropriate to recognize a deferred tax asset
for such losses.
C. CONTINGENT LOSSES
Management also makes judgments and estimates in recording provisions for matters
relating to claims and litigation. Actual costs may vary from estimates for several
reasons, such as changes in cost estimates for resolution of complaints and disputes
based on different interpretations of the law, opinions and evaluations concerning the
amount of loss.
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Contingencies are recorded as provisions when it is likely that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. It is not practical to
estimate sensitivity to potential losses if other assumptions were used to record these
provisions, due to the number of underlying assumptions and the range of possible
reasonable outcomes regarding potential actions by third parties, such as regulators,
both in terms of loss probability and estimates of such loss.
D. LONG LIVED ASSETS
The Company estimates the useful lives of long-lived assets in order to determine the
depreciation and amortization expenses to be recorded during the reporting period.
The useful life of an asset is calculated when the asset is acquired and is based on
past experience with similar assets, considering anticipated technological changes
or any other type of changes. Were technological changes to occur faster than
estimated, or differently than anticipated, the useful lives assigned to these assets
could have to be reduced. This would lead to the recognition of a greater depreciation
and amortization expense in future periods. Alternatively, these types of technological
changes could result in the recognition of a charge for impairment to reflect the
reduction in the expected future economic benefits associated with the assets.
The Company reviews depreciable and amortizable assets on an annual basis for
signs of impairment, or when certain events or circumstances indicate that the
book value may not be recovered during the remaining useful life of the assets. For
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, the Company performs impairment tests
annually and at any time that there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
To evaluate the impairment, the Company uses cash flows, which consider the
administrative estimates for future transactions, including estimates for revenues,
costs, operating expenses, capital expenses and debt service. In accordance with
IFRS, discounted future cash flows associated with an asset or cash-generating
unit (CGU) would be compared to the value in books of the asset or CGU at
issue to determine if impairment exists or a reversal of impairment whenever
the aforementioned discounted future cash flows are less than its book value. In
such case, the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents presented in the consolidated statements of financial
position consist of the following:
DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS

$ 3,551

$ 3,570

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

4

187

$ 3,555

$ 3,757

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

7. RESTRICTED CASH

The value of restricted cash is composed as follows:
DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

$ 617

$ 113

NON-CURRENT (NOTE 12)

679

776

RESTRICTED CASH (1) (2)

$ 1,296

$ 889

CURRENT

(1) The Company received formal notices from the Brazilian tax authorities corresponding to tax credits, related
to their review of its operations in Brazil. Pending the resolution of these requirements, and by virtue of a court
order, Nemak has segregated bank balances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, of $677 and $774, respectively,
which will be reimbursed to the Company upon final resolution. In October 2017, the Brazilian Supreme Court
ruled in favor of Nemak and other taxpayers meeting certain criteria. However, it admitted the modulation claim
presented by the Attorney General of the National Treasury Department, alleging that the reimbursement to all
taxpayers who obtained a favorable resolution would be extremely burdensome for the national economy.
(2) In accordance with the provisions of a credit agreement, the Company has made long term cash deposit pursuant to a preferential loan arranged in order to participate in a financing by a US agency to promote investment
in rural / low-development regions in the USA.

E. ESTIMATION OF DEFAULT PROBABILITIES AND RECOVERY RATE TO
APPLY THE MODEL OF EXPECTED LOSSES IN THE CALCULATION OF
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS.
The Company assigns to customers with whom it maintains an account receivable at
each reporting date, either individually or as a group, an estimate of the probability of
default on the payment of accounts receivable and the estimated recovery rate, with
the purpose of reflecting the cash flows expected to be received from the outstanding
balances on said date.
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NET
DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

CURRENT:
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

$ 5,563

$ 5,875

DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

2,498

2,574

RECOVERABLE TAXES

1,879

2,502

558

547

(251)

(92)

$ 10,247

$ 11,406

$

$

SUNDRY DEBTORS
ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
TOTAL
NON-CURRENT:
NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLE DUE FROM
RELATED PARTIES (NOTE 24)

706

688

Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade accounts receivable are as
follows:
2018
OPENING BALANCE AS OF JANUARY 1

$

2017

(441)

$

(43)

(67)

RECEIVABLES WRITTEN OFF DURING THE YEAR

229

-

4

27

(251)

(92)

IFRS 9 INITIAL ADOPTION ADJUSTMEN

-

(349)

IFRS 9 ADJUSTED BALANCE

-

FINAL BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31

$

The following describes the probability ranges of default and recovery rates allocated
to the main customer segments with which the company has balances receivable in
its different businesses:
CLIENTS OR
GROUP OF CLIENTS

PROBABILITY
RANGE OF DEFAULT

SEVERITY RANGE
OF LOSS

AUTOMOTIVE

0.00% - 0.85%

99.80%

RELATED PARTIES

0.00% - 0.17%

100.00%

Increases in customer impairment estimation and cancellations, when they do not
imply the loss of an account receivable, are recognized in the consolidated statement
of results within the heading of sales costs.
The company does not maintain any significant collateral or guarantees that mitigate
exposure to the credit risk of its financial assets.

9. INVENTORIES
DECEMBER 31

(52)

ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE AND
OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
OTHER

The net change in the estimate of impairment of accounts receivable of $(251) for
the year ended December 31, 2018, was mainly due to changes in the estimation of
probabilities of default and the percentage of recovery, allocated to different customer
groups in which the Company operates, which reflected an increase in credit risk over
these financial assets.

(441)

2018
RAW MATERIAL AND OTHER CONSUMABLES

$

5,702

2017
$

6,132

WORK IN PROCESS

4,375

4,360

FINISHED GOODS

2,441

2,202

$ 12,518

$ 12,694

For the years ended on December 31, 2018 and 2017, damaged, slow-moving and
obsolete inventory was charged to cost of sales in the amount of $22 and $25,
respectively.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no inventories pledged as collateral.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
BUILDINGS AND
CONSTRUCTIONS

LAND

MACHINERY AND
EQUIPMENT

VEHICLES

FURNITURE AND
EQUIPMENT

CONSTRUCTIONS
IN PROGRESS

OTHER FIXED
ASSETS

TOTAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
OPENING BALANCE, NET

$1,676

$

8,165

$ 29,498

$

74

$ 646

$

9,332

$ 703

$ 50,094

TRANSLATION EFFECT

(1)

34

551

34

55

(164)

402

911

ADDITIONS

59

(140)

1,327

(1)

6

6,834

222

8,307

DISPOSALS

-

(4)

(841)

1

(25)

(101)

(384)

(1,354)

IMPAIRMENT CHARGE RECOGNIZED IN THE YEAR

-

-

(211)

-

-

-

-

(211)

DEPRECIATION CHARGE RECOGNIZED IN THE YEAR

-

(402)

(5,013)

(58)

21

-

(21)

(5,473)

TRANSFERS

-

1,150

6,371

20

349

(7,961)

71

-

8,803

$ 31,682

$

70

$ 1,052

7,940

$ 993

$ 52,274

$1,734

$ 14,670

$ 75,864

$ 328

$ 2,417

7,940

$1,062

$104,015

ACUMMULATED DEPRECIATION

-

(5,867)

(44,182)

(258)

(1,365)

-

(69)

(51,741)

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AS OF
DECEMBER 31, 2017

$1,734

$

8,803

$ 31,682

$

70

$ 1,052

$

7,940

$ 993

$ 52,274

$1,734

$

8,803

$ 31,682

$

70

$ 1,052

$

7,940

$ 993

$ 52,274

(49)

(298)

(957)

(4)

(43)

(357)

(131)

(1,839)

ADDITIONS

-

4

1,368

2

35

5,997

177

7,583

DISPOSALS

-

-

(880)

-

(23)

-

(301)

(1,204)

IMPAIRMENT CHARGE RECOGNIZED IN THE YEAR

-

-

(115)

-

-

-

-

(115)

DEPRECIATION CHARGE RECOGNIZED IN THE YEAR

-

(477)

(4,470)

(49)

(431)

-

357

(5,070)

TRANSFERS

-

1,165

6,283

29

229

(7,720)

14

-

$1,734

$

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
COST

$

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
OPENING BALANCE, NET
TRANSLATION EFFECT

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

$1,685

$

9,197

$ 32,911

$

48

819

$

5,860

$1,109

$ 51,629

ACUMMULATED DEPRECIATION

$1,685

$ 15,238

$ 79,511

$ 329

$ 2,461

$

5,860

$1,175

$106,259

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AS OF
DECEMBER 31, 2018

-

(6,041)

(46,600)

(281)

(1,642)

-

(66)

(54,630)

9,197

$ 32,911

48

$ 819

5,860

$1,109

$ 51,629

COST

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2017

NEMAK
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Of the total depreciation expense, $4,821 and $5,206, were charged to cost of sales,
$2 and $2, to selling expenses and $247 and $265, to administrative expenses in
2018 and 2017, respectively.

DEVELOPMENT
COSTS

RELATIONSHIPS
WITH
CUSTOMERS

SOFTWARE INTELLECTUAL
AND
PROPERTY
LICENSES
RIGHTS

GOODWILL

TOTAL

As of December 31, 2018, there was no property, plant and equipment pledged as
collateral.

TRANSLATION
EFFECTS

(172)

(448)

(62)

6

(203)

(879)

Assets under finance leases include the following amounts in which the Company is
the lessee:

ADDITIONS

1,217

174

16

-

-

1,407

DISPOSALS

(24)

(965)

(58)

-

-

(1,047)

DECEMBER 31
COST – FINANCE LEASES
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
NET CARRYING AMOUNT

2018

2017

$ 255

$ 530

(123)

(207)

$ 132

$ 323

The Company has entered into non-cancellable finance lease agreements as lessee.
The lease terms of the agreements entered into vary between 5 and 20 years. For
the ending year December 31, 2018, the Company made no acquisitions of assets of
property or plant and equipment that did not require cash flows, in comparison with
December 31,2017, the amount for this concept amounted to $66.
The other fixed assets are mainly made up of spare parts and long-term
improvements.

RELATIONSHIPS
WITH
CUSTOMERS

SOFTWARE INTELLECTUAL
AND
PROPERTY
LICENSES
RIGHTS

TOTAL

$

6,911

$

3,020

$

734

$

112

5,836

$

16,613

TRANSLATION
EFFECTS

(388)

25

385

(5)

217

234

ADDITIONS

1,256

280

11

-

-

1,547

DISPOSALS

(148)

-

(2)

-

-

(150)

AS OF DECEMBER
31, 2017

NEMAK

$

7,631

$

3,325

$

1,128

$

107

$

6,053

$

18,244

2,086

$

1,024

$

113

$

5,850

$

17,725

(2,929)

(825)

(690)

(112)

-

(4,556)

AMORTIZATIONS

(613)

(145)

(89)

-

-

(847)

58

-

2

-

-

60

(74)

(126)

76

5

-

(119)

DISPOSALS
TRANSLATION
EFFECTS
AS OF DECEMBER
31, 2017

$

AMORTIZATIONS

$

(3,558)

$

(1,096)

$

(701)

$

(107)

$

-

$

(5,462)

(698)

(309)

(89)

-

-

(1,096)

-

-

58

-

-

58

(38)

51

69

-

-

82

(4,294)

$

(1,354)

$

(663)

$

(107)

7,631

$

3,325

$

1,128

$

107

$

-

$

(6,418)

6,053

$

18,244

NET CARRYING AMOUNT
COST

$

$

JANUARY 1, 2017

AS OF DECEMBER
31, 2018
GOODWILL

8,652

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

TRANSLATION
EFFECTS

COST
AS OF JANUARY 1,
2017

$

DISPOSALS

11. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
DEVELOPMENT
COSTS

AS OF DECEMBER
31, 2018

$

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION

(3,558)

(1,096)

(701)

$

(107)

-

(5,462)

AS OF DECEMBER
31, 2017

$

4,073

$

2,229

$

427

$

-

$

6,053

$

12,782

COST

$

8,652

$

2,086

$

1,024

$

113

$

5,850

$

17,725

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION
AS OF DECEMBER
31, 2018

(4,294)
$

4,358

(1,354)
$

732

(663)
$

361

(107)
$

6

$

-

(6,418)

5,850 $

11,307
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Of the total amortization expense, $927 and $661, were charged to cost of sales,
$169 and $186, to administrative expenses, $- and $- to selling expenses, in 2018
and 2017, respectively.

The key assumptions used in calculating the value in use in 2018 and 2017 were as
follows:
2018

Research expenses incurred and recorded in the 2018 and 2017 consolidated
statements of income were $16 and $6, respectively.
Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to operating segments that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the acquirer are assigned to those units or groups of units, as follows:
NORTH AMERICA
BALANCE AS OF JANUARY 1, 2017
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

REST OF THE WORLD

2,614

$ 2,458

$ 764

$ 5,836

175

29

13

217

$ 2,789

$ 2,487

777

$ 6,053

(20)

(45)

(138)

(203)

$ 2,769

$ 2,442

$ 639

$ 5,850

$

EUROPE

REST OF THE WORLD

GROWTH RATE

1.50%

1.50%

2.50%

DISCOUNT RATE

10.50%

10.02%

10.58%

2017

EUROPE

$

NORTH AMERICA

TOTAL

The estimated gross margin has been budgeted based on past performance and
market development expectations. The growth rate used is consistent with the
projections included in the industry reports. The discount rate used is before taxes
and it reflects the inherent risk in future cash flows.
The recoverable amount of all cash generating units has been determined based on
fair value less costs of disposal considering a market participant’s perspective. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on pre-tax financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5 year period. Cash flows beyond the 5 year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below.

NORTH AMERICA

EUROPE

REST OF THE WORLD

GROWTH RATE

1.50%

1.50%

2.50%

DISCOUNT RATE

8.50%

8.00%

9.12%

With regards to the value in use estimate of the cash generating units, the
Company performed a sensitivity analysis considering a potential change in the key
assumptions described above. The resulting amounts from the sensitivity analysis
would not reflect that the carrying amount exceeds the value in use.

12. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
DECEMBER 31
RESTRICTED CASH
EQUITY INVESTMENTS 1
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
OTHER ASSETS
TOTAL OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2018

2017

$ 679

$ 776

71

71

662

505

98

155

$ 1,510

$ 1,507

(1) Equity investments are investment in shares of companies of non-public companies. No impairment loss was
recognized as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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14. DEBT

The accumulated summarized financial information for investments in associates
accounted for under the equity method and that are not considered material, is as
follows:

NET INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

DECEMBER 31

2018

2017

$ 136

$ 60

$ 924

1,045

155

352

415

$ 2,806

$ 1,494

$ 5,914

$ 5,917

705

758

9,841

9,868

SENIOR NOTES

11,253

11,847

NON-CURRENT DEBT BEFORE DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

27,713

28,390

LESS: DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

(316)

(330)

(1,045)

(155)

$26,352

$27,905

NOTES PAYABLE 1
TOTAL CURRENT DEBT 2
NON-CURRENT DEBT:

DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

$ 17,431

$ 17,901

ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

414

472

OTHER SOCIAL SECURITY FEES AND BENEFITS

769

819

36

34

3,830

3,723

$ 22,480

$ 22,949

OTHER PAYABLES

$ 1,409

CURRENT:
CURRENT PORTION OF NON-CURRENT DEBT

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RELATED PARTIES (NOTE 24)

2017

BANK LOANS(1)

There are no contingent liabilities or commitments related to the Company’s
investments in associates.

TRADE ACCOUNT PAYABLE

2018

UNSECURED BANK LOANS
FINANCE LEASES
IN U.S DOLLARS:
SENIOR NOTES
IN EUROS:

LESS: CURRENT PORTION OF OTHER DEBTS
NON-CURRENT DEBT

(1) As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, short-term bank loans and notes payable bore interest at an average rate of
4.73% and 4.37%, respectively.
(2) The fair value of bank loans and notes payable approximate their current book value, due to their short maturity.
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The carrying amounts, terms and conditions of non-current debt were as follows:
CONTRACTUAL
CURRENCY

DESCRIPTION

VALUE IN
MX PESOS

DEBT
ISSUANCE
COSTS

INTEREST
PAID

BALANCE AS OF
DECEMBER 31, 2018

BALANCE AS OF
DECEMBER 31, 2017

INCEPTION DATE
MM/DD/YYYY

MATURITY DATE
MM/DD/YYYY

INTEREST
RATE

CLUB DEAL-(BBVA) 1

USD

450

-

3

447

448

11/13/2016

11/13/2020

3.86%

CLUB DEAL-(BBVA)

EUR

91

-

-

91

91

11/13/2016

11/13/2020

1.25%

BANCOMEXT LP

USD

2,307

9

1

2,315

2,368

12/23/2015

12/23/2025

5.16%

NAFIN LP

USD

1,536

8

-

1,544

1,579

12/29/2015

12/29/2025

5.19%

UNICREDIT TURKEY

EUR

764

-

-

764

806

12/28/2016

12/28/2019

1.25%

BRAZIL

BRL

69

-

1

68

85

01/31/2016

01/15/2025

9.00%

RUSSIA

RUB

-

-

-

-

2

01/11/2017

0.5%

SPAIN

EUR

123

-

1

122

139

05/07/2016

12/25/2031

1.42%

USA

USD

447

116

-

563

394

01/04/2017

04/06/2024

3.86%

TOTAL UNSECURED BANK LOANS

5,787

133

6

5,914

5,917

ISSUANCE COSTS

(133)

-

-

(133)

(161)

TOTAL UNSECURED BANK LOANS

5,654

133

6

5,781

5,756

USD

9,958

97

214

9,841

9,868

01/25/2018

01/25/2025

4.75%

EUR

11,279

86

112

11,253

11,847

03/15/2017

03/15/2024

3.25%

(183)

-

-

(183)

(169)

21,054

183

326

20,911

21,546

1

SENIOR NOTES 2
SENIOR NOTES - EUR

2

ISSUANCE COSTS
TOTAL SENIOR NOTES
FINANCE LEASE:
USA

USD

42

-

-

42

13

01/01/2013

01/09/2017

5.00%

CHINA

RMB

161

-

-

161

188

09/06/2006

02/28/2023

6.45%

RUSSIA

RUB

-

-

-

-

-

08/01/2014

04/30/2019

4.05%

CANADA

CAD

3

-

-

3

6

06/01/2017

05/01/2020

10.00%

MODELLBAU

EUR

12

-

-

12

21

02/12/2015

05/15/2020

1.82%

DILLINGEN

EUR

467

-

-

467

501

05/01/2015

05/15/2020

7.45%

MEXICO

USD

20

-

-

20

29

07/01/2017

06/01/2020

2.50%

705

-

-

705

758

-

-

-

$ 27,413

$ 316

$ 332

(1,045)

-

$26,368

$ 316

TOTAL FINANCE LEASE
OTHER LIABILITIES
TOTAL
LESS: CURRENT PORTION OF NON-CURRENT DEBT
NON-CURRENT DEBT

$

27,397

28,060

-

(1,045)

(155)

$ 332

$ 26,352

$ 27,905

(1) Club Deal (BBVA) in USD and EUR accrues at the LIBOR+1.25% and EURIBOR+1.25%, respectively.
(2) Senior Notes at a fixed interest rate of 4.75% Senior Notes EUR at a fixed interest rate of 3.25%
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As of December 31, 2018, the annual maturities of non-current debt are as follows:
2019

2020

$ 919

$ 791

SENIOR NOTES 2

-

-

21,094

21,094

FINANCE LEASES

126

54

525

705

$ 1,045

$ 845

$ 25,823

$ 27,713

BANK LOANS 1

2021 AND THEREAFTER
$

4,204

TOTAL
$

5,914

(1) Interest on bank loans will be paid quarterly.
(2) Interest on Senior Notes will be paid semiannually.

• Pay dividends (only applicable to Nemak, SAB)
• Grant liens on assets;
• Enter into transactions with affiliates;
• Perform a consolidation, merger or sale of assets, and
• Carry out sale and lease-back operations
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there are no assets pledged as collateral for any
of the subsidiaries, except for:

COVENANTS:

1. Some assets, pledged as collateral in a long-term debt granted by a Brazilian
government entity to promote investment (“BNDES”). As of December 31, 2018 the
outstanding balance and the value of the pledged assets are approximately US$3.4
($67.9) and US$ 4.3 ($84.6), respectively.

a. Interest coverage ratio: which is defined as EBITDA (See Note 25) for the period of
the last four complete quarters divided by financial expenses, net, for the last four
quarters, which shall not be less than 3.0 times.

Significant debt transactions in 2018:
a. On January 11, 2018, Nemak issued US$500 of 4.750% Senior Notes with 7-year
maturity in the Irish Stock Exchange and the Global Stock Market, under Rule 144A,
and under the Regulation S. The transaction resources were mainly used to prepay in
advance the Senior Notes USD 2023.

Loan contracts and debt agreements contain restrictions, primarily with respect to
compliance with certain financial ratios, including:

b. Leverage ratio: which is defined as consolidated debt at that date, being the gross
debt or net debt appropriate, divided by EBITDA (See Note 25) for the period of the
last four complete quarters, which shall not be more than 3.5 times.
Additionally, in the aforementioned agreements, there are commitments related to the
Senior Notes issued in USD in January 2018, as well as similar financing denominated
in Euros issued in March 2017, among the most important of which is the limitation to
contract debt or increase it in the event that it does not comply with the fixed-charges
coverage ratio at a rate of at least 2.25 and 2.0 times, respectively.
During 2018 and 2017, the financial ratios were calculated in according to the
formulas set out in the effective debt agreements.

Significant debt transactions in 2017:
a. On March 9, 2017, Nemak issued Senior Notes on the Irish Stock Exchange and to
qualified institutional investors in the amount of Euro 500, through a private offering
under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the U.S. Securities Act. The Senior Notes
accrue an annual coupon of 3.25%, maturing in 7 years. The proceeds were mainly
used to prepay other financial liabilities with shorter maturity terms.
Liabilities for financial leases are effectively guaranteed with the rights to the leased
asset to be reverted to the lessor in the event of non-compliance.
The Company’s finance lease obligations as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as
follows:

At December 31, 2018 and the date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company is in compliance with all obligations and covenants
contained in its credit agreements; such obligations, among other conditions are
subject to certain exceptions, and require or limit the ability of the Company to:

LESS THAN 1 YEAR

• Provide certain financial information;

OVER 1 YEAR AND LESS THAN 5 YEARS

293

352

• Maintain books and records;

OVER 5 YEARS

393

455

• Maintain assets in appropriate conditions;

TOTAL

DECEMBER 31
2018
$

$

145

831

2017
$

$

117

924

• Comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations;
• Incur additional indebtedness;
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The employee benefit obligations recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position are shown below:

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
DECEMBER 31
2018
LESS THAN 1 YEAR

$

126

$

94

OVER 1 YEAR AND LESS THAN 5 YEARS

243

217

OVER 5 YEARS

336

447

$

705

$

758

15. OTHER LIABILITIES
DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

CURRENT:
OTHER TAXES AND WITHHOLDINGS

$

DEFERRED INCOME

565

$

555

15

20

STATUTORY EMPLOYEE PROFIT SHARING

163

140

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (NOTE 18)

50

31

BANK OVERDRAFTS

13

37

TOTAL

$

806

DECEMBER 31

2017

$

783

2018

2017

COUNTRY
MEXICO

$

238

UNITED STATES

$

228

31

39

CANADA

169

154

POLAND

161

162

AUSTRIA

231

259

GERMANY

133

138

OTHER

275

245

TOTAL

$

1,238

$

1,225

Below is a summary of the primary financial data of these employee benefits:
DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

OBLIGATIONS IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION:
PENSION BENEFITS

$ 1,082

$ 1,055

156

170

1,238

1,225

PENSION BENEFITS

(57)

(104)

The valuation of employee benefits for retirement plans is based primarily on their
years of service, current age and estimated salary at retirement date.

POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL BENEFITS

(12)

(16)

Subsidiaries of the Company have established funds for the payment of retirement
benefits through irrevocable trusts.

(69)

(120)

REMEASUREMENTS FROM EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS RECOGNIZED
IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
22

(43)

3

3

25

(40)

$ (201)

$ (226)

POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL BENEFITS

NON-CURRENT:
OTHER

$

214

$

281

TOTAL

$

214

$

281

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

LIABILITY RECOGNIZED IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CHARGE IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR:

PENSION BENEFITS
POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL BENEFITS
REMEASUREMENTS ACCUMULATED IN
STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY
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POST-EMPLOYMENT PENSION AND MEDICAL BENEFITS
The Company operates post-employment medical benefits in Mexico and Canada.
The accounting method, assumptions and frequency of valuations are similar to those
used for benefits defined in pension schemes.
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position are
determined as follows:

FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS
NET LIABILITIES IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

2018

2017

$ 1,802

$ 1,878

(564)

(653)

$ 1,238

$ 1,225

2018

2017

$ 1,878

$ 1,669

CURRENT SERVICE COST

56

91

INTEREST COST

54

52

1

1

69

62

-

(22)

(49)

(56)

(207)

81

$ 1,802

$ 1,878

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM PLAN PARTICIPANTS
REMEASUREMENTS:
LOSS (GAIN) FOR CHANGES IN PERSONNEL EXPERIENCE
REDUCTIONS
BENEFITS PAID
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
AS OF DECEMBER 31,

NEMAK

2017

$ (653)

$ (607)

(41)

(24)

REMEASUREMENTS – RETURN FROM PLAN ASSETS, NET

44

(21)

EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

57

(2)

7

(25)

EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS

(1)

(1)

BENEFITS PAID

23

27

$ (564)

$ (653)

AS OF JANUARY 1ST

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM PLAN PARTICIPANTS

AS OF DECEMBER 31

The primary actuarial assumptions were as follows:

The movement in the defined benefit obligation during the year was as follows:

AS OF JANUARY 1

2018
INTEREST INCOME

DECEMBER 31
PRESENT VALUE OF THE OBLIGATIONS

The movement in the fair value of plan assets for the year was as follows:

DECEMBER 31
2018

2017

INFLATION RATE

6.77%

6.77%

WAGE INCREASE RATE

4.50%

4.50%

FUTURE WAGE INCREASE

3.50%

3.50%

MEDICAL INFLATION RATE

6.50%

6.50%

MEXICO

7.25%

7.25%

CANADA

3.40%

3.40%

AUSTRIA

2.00%

2.00%

UNITED STATES

2.86%

2.86%

GERMANY

0.82%

1.26%

POLAND

3.30%

3.20%

MEXICO:

DISCOUNT RATE:
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The movement in outstanding shares for the year was as follows:

The sensitivity analysis of the main assumptions for defined benefit obligations
discount rate were as follows:

NUMBER OF SHARES
(IN MILLIONS)

IMPACT ON DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

DISCOUNT RATE

CHANGE IN
ASSUMPTIONS

INCREASE IN
ASSUMPTIONS

DECREASE IN
ASSUMPTIONS

+1%

DECREASES BY $(16)

INCREASES BY $19

SHARES AS OF JANUARY 1, 2017
MOVEMENTS OF THE YEAR

PENSION BENEFIT ASSETS
Plan assets are comprised of the following:

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
SHORT AND LONG-TERM FIXEDINCOME SECURITIES

2018

2017

$ 365

$ 229

199

424

$ 564

$ 653

At December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fixed, capital stock of $ 6,604 and
$ 6,604, respectively, was represented by 3,077 and 3,079 million registered common
shares, “Class I” of the Series “A”, without face value, fully subscribed and paid,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the shares were represented as follows:
NUMBER OF SHARES
(IN MILLIONS)

NUMBER OF SHARES
AMOUNT

ALFA

2,318

$ 4,971

FORD

168

360

PUBLIC

593

1,273

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31,
2018 AND 2017

3,079

SHARES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

$

3,079

$ 6,604

The profit for the period is subject to the legal provision requiring at least 5% of the
profit for each period to be set aside to increase the legal reserve until it reaches an
amount equivalent to 20% of the capital stock. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
the legal reserve amounted to $851 and $675, respectively, which is included in
retained earnings.
Dividends paid in 2018 and 2017 were $3,281 ($1,06 per share) and $3,163 ($1.02 per
share) which fully arise from the Net Tax Profit Account (CUFIN).
Dividends paid are not subject to income tax if paid from the CUFIN. Any dividends
paid in excess of this account will cause a tax equivalent to 42.86% if they are paid
in 2018. This tax is payable by the Company and may be credited against its income
tax in the same year or the following two years or, if applicable, against the flat tax of
the period. Dividends paid from profits which have previously paid income tax are not
subject to tax withholding or to any additional tax payment. At December 31, 2018,
the tax value of the consolidated CUFIN and value of the Capital Contribution Account
(CUCA) amounted to $2,048 and $8,149 respectively.
In accordance with the Mexican Income Tax Law becoming effective on January 1,
2014, a 10% tax on income generated starting 2014 on dividends paid to foreign
residents and Mexican individuals when these correspond to taxable income. It also
establishes that for fiscal years 2001 to 2013, the net tax on profits will be determined
as established in the Income Tax Law effective in the corresponding fiscal year.
The incentive is applicable provided that such dividends or profits were generated in 2014,
2015 and 2016 and are reinvested in the legal entity that generated such profits, and
consists of a tax credit equal to the amount obtained by applying the dividend or profits
distributed, which corresponds to the year such amounts are distributed as follows:
YEAR OF DISTRIBUTION
OF DIVIDEND OR PROFIT

NEMAK

(2)

During the year 2018 and 2017, there were repurchases of shares for $2 in each year.

17. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

STOCKHOLDER

$ 3,081

PERCENTAGE OF APPLICATION TO THE AMOUNT
OF DIVIDEND OR PROFIT DISTRIBUTED.

2018

2%

2019

5%

2020 ONWARDS

5%
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The tax credit will be used against the additional 10% income tax that the entity must
withhold and pay.
To apply the tax credit, the Company must meet the following requirements:

19. EXPENSES CLASSIFIED BY NATURE

The total cost of sales and administrative expenses, classified by nature, were as
follows:

• Must identify in its accounts the corresponding accounting records to earnings or
dividends generated in 2014, 2015 and 2016 and the respective distributions.

DECEMBER 31

• Present in the notes to the consolidated financial statements information for the
period in which profits were generated, dividends were reinvested or distributed.

2018

2017

$ (34,687)

$ (33,360)

MAQUILA (PRODUCTION OUTSOURCING)

(8,252)

(7,597)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (NOTE 22)

(15,616)

(14,717)

PERSONNEL EXPENSES

(2,274)

(2,007)

MAINTENANCE

(4,589)

(4,147)

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

(6,166)

(6,320)

(870)

(935)

(37)

(44)

(3,869)

(3,582)

TRAVEL EXPENSES

(327)

(294)

OPERATING LEASES

(575)

(522)

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE, PROFESSIONAL FEES AND
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

(871)

(699)

OTHER

(4,491)

(3,406)

TOTAL

$ (82,624)

$ (77,630)

RAW MATERIALS

Entities distributing dividends or profits in respect of shares placed among the
investing public should inform brokerage firms, credit institutions, investment firms,
the people who carry out the distribution of shares of investment companies, or
any other intermediary, the necessary details so that these brokers can make the
corresponding withholding. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
Company generated taxable income of $3,464 and $3,691, which may be subject to
this withholding.
In the case of a capital reduction, Mexican tax law establishes that any excess of
stockholders’ equity over capital contributions be given the same tax treatment as
applicable to dividends.

FREIGHT CHARGES
ADVERTISING EXPENSES
CONSUMPTION OF ENERGY AND FUEL

18. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Nemak has a compensation scheme referenced to the value of ALFA’s shares for
senior executives of Nemak and its subsidiaries. According to the terms of the plan,
eligible executives will receive a cash payment conditional on the achievement of
certain quantitative and qualitative metrics based on the following financial measures:
• Improved share price
• Improvement in net income

20. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

• Permanence of the executives in the Company
The bonus will be paid in cash over the next five years, i.e. 20% each year at the
average price per share in pesos at the end of each year. The average price of the
share in Mexican Pesos in 2018 and 2017 was $14.33 and $21.21, respectively.

2018
LOSS ON SALE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Short and long-term liability consists of the following:
DECEMBER 31
SHORT TERM
LONG TERM
TOTAL CARRYING AMOUNT
NEMAK

2018

2017

$ 14

$ 11

36

20

$ 50

$ 31

$ (22)

2017
$

(53)

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(115)

(211)

OTHER INCOME

258

130

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES, NET

$

121

$

(134)
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21. FINANCIAL RESULTS, NET

23. INCOME TAXES
2018

2017

The Company is subject to income tax; whose rate is 30% in Mexico. The statutory
income tax rates applicable to the main foreign subsidiaries were as follows:

FINANCIAL INCOME:
INTEREST INCOME IN SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

$

43

$

2018

2017

18

GERMANY

30.0%

30.0%

INTERCOMPANY FINANCIAL INCOME

44

50

AUSTRIA

25.0%

25.0%

OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME

113

349

BRAZIL

34.0%

34.0%

417

CHINA

25.0%

25.0%

SPAIN

28.0%

28.0%

SLOVAKIA

21.0%

21.0%

UNITED STATES 1

21.0%

35.0%

HUNGARY

9.0%

9.0%

POLAND

19.0%

19.0%

4,926

TURKEY

20.0%

20.0%

(5,701)

(1) On December 22, 2017, the U.S. Federal government enacted substantial changes to its existing tax law (“H.R.
1”, originally known as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”, or the “Act”). Although most provisions of the Act, including
the reduction of the corporate tax rate to 21%, are effective beginning on January 1, 2018, IFRS requires entities
to recognize the effect of tax law changes in the period of enactment within deferred taxes. The Company determined that the effect derived from the change in tax rates recognized in the consolidated statement of income
for 2017 was US$7.

1

TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME

$

200

$

FINANCIAL EXPENSES:
INTEREST EXPENSE ON BANK LOANS
OTHER FINANCIAL EXPENSES

$

(1,888)

$

(67)

2

TOTAL FINANCIAL EXPENSE

$

(1,955)

(1,469)
(73)

$

(1,542)

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION GAIN (LOSS), NET:
EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION GAIN

$

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION LOSS

4,575

$

(5,040)

TOTAL EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION LOSS, NET

$

(465)

FINANCIAL RESULTS, NET

$ (2,220)

$

(775)

$ (1,900)

(1) Mainly includes interest on plan assets and other items.
(2) Mainly includes the financial cost of employee benefits.

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
2018
SALARIES, WAGES AND BENEFITS

$

CONTRIBUTIONS TO SOCIAL SECURITY
EMPLOYEE PENSION BENEFITS (NOTE 16)
OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS
TOTAL

NEMAK

$

13,015

2017
$

12,070

1,955

2,094

56

91

590

462

15,616

$

14,717
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a) Income tax recognized in the consolidated statement of income:

c) The detail of the deferred income tax asset and liability is as follows:

2018

2017

(ASSET) LIABILITY DECEMBER 31
2018

CURRENT TAX:
CURRENT INCOME TAX OF THE PERIOD

$ (2,043)

$ (1,650)

4

(23)

(2,039)

(1,673)

ADJUSTMENT WITH RESPECT TO PRIOR YEARS
TOTAL CURRENT TAX
DEFERRED TAX:

(237)

189

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX

(237)

189

$ (2,276)

$ (1,484)

2018
EQUITY IN LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES RECOGNIZED THROUGH THE
EQUITY METHOD
INCOME BEFORE INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
STATUTORY RATE
TAXES AT STATUTORY RATE

$

5,740

2017
$

5,175

OTHER TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES, NET
$

(64)

(11)

7

2

16

25

276

122

1,244

1,509

351

203

701

$

(7)

1,002

INVENTORIES

$

$

(3)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(2,501)

(2,751)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(1,026)

(1,388)
(75)

5,604

5,115

ASSET VALUATION RESERVE

2

(10)

30%

30%

PROVISIONS

778

617

(1,681)

(1,535)

TAX LOSS CARRYFORWARDS

(7)

158

(45)

106

OTHER TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES, NET

NON-DEDUCTIBLE EXPENSES

(262)

234

(20)

228

31

(22)

NEMAK

TAX LOSS CARRYFORWARDS

(895)

-

(389)

EFFECTIVE RATE

PROVISIONS

(1,174)

DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

(344)

TOTAL INCOME TAX EXPENSE

VALUATION OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

47

(60)

INFLATION ADJUSTMENTS

OTHER

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

$

(136)

(ADD) LESS TAX EFFECT ON:

NON-TAXABLE EXCHANGE EFFECTS

45

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

b) The reconciliation between the statutory and effective income tax rates was as
follows:

INCOME BEFORE TAXES

$

ASSET VALUATION RESERVE

ORIGIN AND REVERSAL OF TEMPORARY
DIFFERENCES
INCOME TAX EXPENSED

INVENTORIES

2017

$ (2,276)
40%

$

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

$

(2,806)

$

(3,346)

(1,484)
29%
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24. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Tax losses as of December 31, 2018 expire in the following years:
EXPIRATION YEAR

AMOUNT

2019

$

60

2020

-

2021

26

2022

2

2023

13

2024 AND THEREAFTER

2,921

NO MATURITY

1,148
$

4,170

d) The tax charge/(credit) related to comprehensive income is as follows:

BEFORE
TAXES
TRANSLATION
EFFECT OF
$ (1,260)
FOREIGN ENTITIES
REMEASUREMENTS OF
OBLIGATIONS
FOR EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS
EFFECT OF
DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
CONTRACTED
AS CASH FLOW
HEDGE
OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME ITEMS

NEMAK

2018

2017

TAX
CHARGED/
(CREDITED)

TAX
CHARGED/
(CREDITED)

$

25

-

(7)

AFTER
TAXES
$ (1,260)

18

BEFORE
TAXES
$ 879

$

(40)

-

9

Transactions with related parties during the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, which were carried out in terms similar to those of arm’s-length transactions
with independent third parties, were as follows:
DECEMBER 31, 2018
LOANS WITH RELATED PARTIES
AMOUNT

INTEREST

CURRENCY

MATURITY
DATE
MM/DD/YY

-

$ 706

$ 71

PESOS

08/16/2020

AFFILIATES

36

-

-

ASSOCIATES

56

-

39

FORD

1,093

-

-

TOTAL

$ 1,185

$ 706

$ 110

ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE
ALFA

(31)

4.98%

ACCOUNTS
PAYABLE
$

36

EUR

08/16/2020

8.50%

$

36

DECEMBER 31, 2017

AFTER
TAXES
$ 879

$

INTEREST
RATE

LOANS WITH RELATED PARTIES
ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE

AMOUNT

INTEREST

-

$ 688

$ 74

AFFILIATES

19

-

-

ASSOCIATES

56

-

41

FORD

2,025

-

-

TOTAL

$ 2,100

$ 688

$115

ALFA

$

MATURITY
CURRENCY
DATE
MM/DD/YY
PESOS

08/16/2019

INTEREST
RATE

ACCOUNTS
PAYABLE

4.98%

$

34

08/16/2019

8.50%

$

34

Sales revenues and other related parties:
112

(34)

78

96

(33)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

63

FINISHED GOODS
ALFA
FORD

$ (1,123)

$

(41)

$ (1,164)

$ 935

$

(24)

$ 911

ASSOCIATES
TOTAL

$

INTEREST

OTHER

-

$ 43

$

22,889

-

-

-

-

255

$ 22,889

$ 43

$

-

255
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25. SEGMENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
FINISHED GOODS
ALFA

$

$ 37

22,936

-

-

-

-

250

$ 22,936

$ 37

ASSOCIATES

Segment information is presented consistently with the internal reporting provided to
the chief executive officer who is the highest authority in operational decision-making,
resource allocation and assessment of operating segment performance.

OTHER

-

FORD
TOTAL

INTEREST

$

$

-

The Company manages and evaluates its operation through five primary operating
segments, which are:

250

• North America; in which Mexican, Canadian and United States operations are
grouped.

Cost of sales and other expenses with related parties:

• Europe operations include the plants in Germany, Spain, Hungary, Czech Republic,
Austria, Poland, Slovakia, Russia and Turkey.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
ADMINISTRATIVE
SERVICES
ALFA

$

$ 2,468

89

-

-

ASSOCIATES

-

249

-

FORD

-

-

179

89

$ 249

$ 2,647

TOTAL

$

$

DIVIDENDS
PAID

-

AFFILIATES

-

OTHER COSTS AND
EXPENSES

The transactions between operating segments are performed at market value and the
accounting policies with which the financial information by segments is prepared, are
consistent with those described in Note 3.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
ADMINISTRATIVE
SERVICES
ALFA

$

$ 2,380

63

-

-

ASSOCIATES

-

246

-

FORD

-

-

172

63

$ 246

$ 2,552

TOTAL

$

$

DIVIDENDS
PAID

-

AFFILIATES

-

OTHER COSTS AND
EXPENSES

• The operating segments that fail to comply with the limit established by the standard
itself to be reported separately, such as Asia (including plants in China and India),
South America (including plants in Brazil and Argentina), and other less significant
operations, are added and shown under the “rest of the world”.

The Company evaluates the performance of each of the operating segments based
on income before financial results, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”), considering that this indicator is a good metric to evaluate operating
performance and the ability to meet principal and interest obligations with respect
to indebtedness, and the ability to fund capital expenditures and working capital
requirements. Nevertheless, EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under
IFRS and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as a measure of
operating performance or cash flows as a measure of liquidity
The Company has defined the Adjusted EBITDA by also adjusting for the impacts of
asset impairment.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, wages and benefits received by
senior management of the Company were $143 and $123, respectively, an amount
comprising base salary and other benefits associated with the Company’s share
based payment plans.

NEMAK
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Following is the condensed financial information of these operating segments:
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

NORTH
AMERICA

EUROPE

REST OF
THE WORLD

ELIMINATIONS

TOTAL

$

51,450

$ 32,695

$ 8,273

$ (2,091)

$ 90,327

INTER-SEGMENT INCOME

(886)

(1,180)

(25)

2,091

-

INCOME FROM EXTERNAL
CUSTOMERS

$ 50,564

$ 31,515

$ 8,248

$

-

$ 90,327

$

1,922

$ 6,099

$ (197)

$

-

$ 7,824

3,107

2,345

714

-

6,166

95

20

-

-

115

STATEMENT OF INCOME
INCOME BY SEGMENT

EBITDA
OPERATING INCOME
DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTIZATION
IMPAIRMENT
ADJUSTED EBITDA

$

5,124

$ 8,464

$

517

$

-

$ 14,105

CAPITAL INVESTMENTS
(CAPEX)

$

4,076

$ 2,735

$

975

$

-

$ 7,786

NORTH
AMERICA

EUROPE

REST OF
THE WORLD

$ 47,906

$ 30,110

$ 8,218

INTER-SEGMENT INCOME

(930)

(494)

(31)

INCOME FROM EXTERNAL
CUSTOMERS

$ 46,976

$ 29,616

$ 8,187

$

4,543

$ 2,454

$ 18

3,699

1,923

698

-

6,320

68

36

107

-

211

ELIMINATIONS

TOTAL

STATEMENT OF INCOME
INCOME BY SEGMENT

(1,455)

$ 84,779

1,455

-

$

-

$ 84,779

$

-

$

$

EBITDA
OPERATING INCOME
DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTIZATION
IMPAIRMENT

7,015

ADJUSTED EBITDA

$

8,310

$ 4,413

$

823

$

-

$ 13,546

CAPITAL INVESTMENTS
(CAPEX)

$

3,838

$ 3,837

$

604

$

-

$

8,279

The reconciliation between “Adjusted EBITDA” and profit before tax is as follows:

ADJUSTED EBITDA
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
IMPAIRMENT
OPERATING INCOME
FINANCIAL RESULTS, NET
EQUITY IN ASSOCIATES
INCOME BEFORE TAXES

NEMAK

2018

2017

$ 14,105

$ 13,546

(6,166)

(6,320)

(115)

(211)

7,824

7,015

(2,220)

(1,900)

136

60

$ 5,740

$

5,175
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
NORTH AMERICA
EUROPE
REST OF THE WORLD
TOTAL

GOODWILL

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

$ 26,612

$ 2,102

$

19,857

3,748

1,955

5,160

-

784

$ 51,629

$ 5,850

$ 5,457

2,718

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

NORTH AMERICA
EUROPE
REST OF THE WORLD
TOTAL

PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

GOODWILL

$ 26,262

$ 2,312

20,679

3,741

2,422

5,333

-

893

$ 52,274

$ 6,053

$ 6,729

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS
$

statements, the Company cannot predict the outcome of this claim; however,
management considers that it has the arguments to obtain a favorable result,
thus it has not recognized any provision in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

3,414

Nemak’s clients are automotive companies, known as OEMs. The Company has
the following global clients whose transactions represent more than 10% of the
consolidated sales: Ford 26% and 29%, General Motors 25% and 22% and FiatChrysler 12% and 11%, in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements the Company has evaluated the
events and transactions for recognition or disclosure subsequent to December 31,
2018 and through January 31, 2019, (issuance date of the consolidated financial
statements), and has concluded that there are no subsequent events that require
recognition or disclosure.

28. AUTHORIZATION TO ISSUE THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On January 31, 2019, the issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements was authorized by Armando Tamez Martínez, Chief Executive Officer and
Alberto Sada Medina, Chief Financial Officer.
These consolidated financial statements are subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders’ meeting.

Armando Tamez Martínez
Chief Executive Officer

Alberto Sada Medina
Chief Financial Officer

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of its business, the Company is involved in disputes and
litigation. While the results of the disputes cannot be predicted, As of December 31,
2018, the Company does not believe that there are current or threatened actions,
claims or legal proceedings against or affecting the Company which, if determined
adversely to it, would damage significantly its individual or overall results of
operations or financial position.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had the following contingencies:
a. Nemak México, S.A. received from the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) the claim
for a tax credit for refunds of Goods and Services Tax (GST) and the Harmonized
Sales Tax (HST) for an approximate total amount, including interest, for US$82. The
CRA alleges that Nemak delivered certain assets in Canada that were subject to
GST and HST. However, the Company filed an objection to the CRA’s Audit Division
arguing that its clients acted as importers in Canada and that Nemak delivered the
goods to them outside of such country. As of the date of the consolidated financial
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